
      
N OTIC E AN D  AGEN D AN OTIC E AN D  AGEN D A  

 
H ER ITAGE PR ESER VATION  C OMMISSIONH ER ITAGE PR ESER VATION  C OMMISSION
WED N ESD AYWED N ESD AY
JU LY 16, 2025JU LY 16, 2025

 C OU N C IL C H AMBER SC OU N C IL C H AMBER S
211 WEST ASPEN  AVEN U E211 WEST ASPEN  AVEN U E

             4 :00 P .M.             4 :00 P .M.

PU BLIC  C OMMEN T PR OTOC OLPU BLIC  C OMMEN T PR OTOC OL  
To participate in the meeting vi rtual ly use the fol lowing l ink:To participate in the meeting vi rtual ly use the fol lowing l ink: 

Join the Meeting Onl ineJoin the Meeting Onl ine  
  

The publ ic can submit comments that may be read at the dais by a staff member to theThe publ ic can submit comments that may be read at the dais by a staff member to the  
Commission l iaison, Commission l iaison, SDechter@flagstaffaz.govSDechter@flagstaffaz.gov

      
1.1. Call to OrderCall to Order 

 
NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSIONNOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the Heritage
Preservation Commission and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the Heritage
Preservation Commission may vote to go into executive session, which will not be open to the
public, for legal advice and discussion with the City's attorneys for legal advice on any item listed
on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

  

 

2.2. Roll CallRoll Call
 
NOTE: One or more Commission Members may be in attendance telephonically or by other
technological means.
 
EMILY DALE, CHAIR
ALYCIA HAYES, VICE CHAIR
ABBEY BUCKHAM
BERNADETTE BURCHAM

JESSE DOMINGUEZ
AMY HORN
DUFFIE WESTHEIMER

  

 

3.3. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTLAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
 
The Heritage Preservation Commission humbly acknowledges the ancestral homelands of this
area's Indigenous nations and original stewards. These lands, still inhabited by Native
descendants, border mountains sacred to Indigenous peoples. We honor them, their legacies,
their traditions, and their continued contributions. We celebrate their past, present, and future
generations who will forever know this place as home.

  

 

4.4. Public CommentPublic Comment

At this time, any member of the public may address the Commission on any subject within their
jurisdiction that is not scheduled before the Commission on that day. Due to Open Meeting Laws,
the Commission cannot discuss or act on items presented during this portion of the agenda. To
address the Commission on an item that is on the agenda, please wait for the Chair to call for
Public Comment at the time the item is heard.

  

 

5.5. APPROVAL OF MINUTESAPPROVAL OF MINUTES

Approval of minutes from the regular meeting on Wednesday May 21, 2025. Agenda - View
Meetings (All) (6152029972)

  

 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NGYxNzdhMjgtYjg2MS00YzA0LWJmNGMtMGZmMDBhZTk1NmYx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22819389b1-2487-478a-bd59-975890cda86b%22%7d
mailto:SDechter@flagstaffaz.gov?subject=HPC Comment
https://public.destinyhosted.com/agenda_publish.cfm?id=35247&mt=ALL&get_month=5&get_year=2025&dsp=min&seq=4357


6.6. PUBLIC HEARINGPUBLIC HEARING   

 

A.A. 123 S. Beaver St. Grant Application
 PROPERTY INFORMATION:PROPERTY INFORMATION:
 Address:Address:  123 S. Beaver St. 

Assessor's Parcel Number:Assessor's Parcel Number:   
Property Owner:Property Owner:  Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 
Applicant:Applicant:  Jeff Newman, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
City Staff:City Staff:   Lauren Clementino, HPO

 
 REQUESTED ACTION:REQUESTED ACTION:
 Approval of a Level 1 Historic Signs and Facades Grant application for window replacement.
 
 RECOMMENDED ACTION:RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 Approval of a Level 1 Historic Signs and Facades Grant application for window replacement.

This building is individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places, and is a contributor to
the Flagstaff Southside Historic District. Although the preference is to maintain and repair historic
windows where possible, the subject windows are becoming increasingly difficult to maintain,
repair, and source replacement textured yellow glass panes for as panes are broken (due to
vandalism, etc.). The windows also sustain water infiltration due to the very shallow eaves of the
building. The applicant has worked to find replacement windows that are as close to the originals
as possible using current manufacturing. The proposed replacements would maintain the overall
size, shape, and muntin/light pattern and maintain the wood material and brown paint color.
Differences include a change in the style of opening from hopper to casement and a change to all
clear glass. The vendor confirmed that the hopper opening style is not available and recreating it
with a combination of multiple awning and fixed windows would create other visible changes (ex.
loss of glass/lights and change in muntin patterns). The textured yellow glass is difficult to source
and not available in commercial window replacements. Although all window lights were originally
the yellow panes, the majority have already been converted to clear glass based on availability and
to increase light into the building. These differences should be considered acceptable given that
exact replacement windows would have to be custom made, greatly increasing the cost of the
project and limiting the ability to maintain the glass lights.

The grant application meets the criteria for a Level 1 grant award per the grant guidelines.
Sufficient grant funds for FY2026 remain to award this grant.

 

B.B. 19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study
 PROPERTY INFORMATION:PROPERTY INFORMATION:
 Address:Address:  19 W. Birch Ave. 

Assessor's Parcel Number:Assessor's Parcel Number:  100-19-004-A 
Property Owner:Property Owner:  Capri Flagstaff LLC 
Applicant:Applicant:  Jim O'Connell 
City Staff:City Staff:   Lauren Clementino HPO

 
 REQUESTED ACTION:REQUESTED ACTION:
 Approval of the 19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study and selection of measures to

mitigate the proposed major impact of demolition of the property.
 
 RECOMMENDED ACTION:RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 Approval of the 19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study with selection of mitigation.

Cornerstone Environmental Consulting, LLC, was contracted by Capri Flagstaff LCC to conduct a
Phase I Cultural Resource Study. This building has not been previously studied. It is located within
the Downtown Historic Overlay Zone, but outside of the Railroad Addition Historic District. The
owner proposes to demolish the existing building and associated infrastructure on the parcel to



construct a hotel. At this time, the site plan for the hotel has not yet been submitted for
development review. The demolition and new hotel proposal will be subject to a Certificate of
Appropriateness and scheduled for public hearing with the Heritage Preservation Commission
during the development review process.

 

7.7. GENERAL BUSINESSGENERAL BUSINESS   

 

A.A. Potential Collaboration with NAU Students on Public Humanities Project
 Discussion only. 
 

B.B. Historic Signs and Facades Grant Tracking - July 2025 Update
 Discussion only.
 

8.8. REPORTSREPORTS   

 

A.A. APPROVALSAPPROVALS   

 

1.1. 3300 E. Route 66 (Los Tapatios) Mitigation
 Permit Number(s):Permit Number(s):  PZ-25-00071, CC-25-01329 

Address:Address:  3300 E. Route 66 
 

B.B. CONSULTATIONSCONSULTATIONS   

 

1.1. Killip School Regional Detention Basins Inlet Section 106 Consultation
 N/A
 

2.2. Downtown Mile Section 106 Consultation
 N/A
 

3.3. Puente De Hozho Elementary School Monopine Tower Section 106 Consultation
 N/A
 

9.9. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS TO/FROM COMMISSION MEMBERSMISCELLANEOUS ITEMS TO/FROM COMMISSION MEMBERS   

 

10.10. ADJOURNMENTADJOURNMENT   

 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on                      , at                a.m./p.m.
This notice has been posted on the City's website and can be downloaded at www.flagstaff.az.gov.

Dated this               day of                                       , 2025. 

__________________________________________ 
Sara Dechter, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
                                       

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact staff at 928-213-2611 (or 774-5281
TDD). 

Notification at least 48 hours in advance will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements.

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov


    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 6.  A.  6.  A.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: 123 S. Beaver St. Grant Application

PROPERTY INFORMATION:PROPERTY INFORMATION:
Address:Address:  123 S. Beaver St. 
Assessor's Parcel Number:Assessor's Parcel Number:   
Property Owner:Property Owner:  Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 
Applicant:Applicant:   Jeff Newman, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
City Staff:City Staff:   Lauren Clementino, HPO

REQUESTED ACTION:REQUESTED ACTION:
Approval of a Level 1 Historic Signs and Facades Grant application for window replacement.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approval of a Level 1 Historic Signs and Facades Grant application for window replacement.

This building is individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places, and is a contributor to the
Flagstaff Southside Historic District. Although the preference is to maintain and repair historic windows where
possible, the subject windows are becoming increasingly difficult to maintain, repair, and source replacement
textured yellow glass panes for as panes are broken (due to vandalism, etc.). The windows also sustain water
infiltration due to the very shallow eaves of the building. The applicant has worked to find replacement
windows that are as close to the originals as possible using current manufacturing. The proposed
replacements would maintain the overall size, shape, and muntin/light pattern and maintain the wood material
and brown paint color. Differences include a change in the style of opening from hopper to casement and a
change to all clear glass. The vendor confirmed that the hopper opening style is not available and recreating
it with a combination of multiple awning and fixed windows would create other visible changes (ex. loss of
glass/lights and change in muntin patterns). The textured yellow glass is difficult to source and not available
in commercial window replacements. Although all window lights were originally the yellow panes, the majority
have already been converted to clear glass based on availability and to increase light into the building. These
differences should be considered acceptable given that exact replacement windows would have to be custom
made, greatly increasing the cost of the project and limiting the ability to maintain the glass lights.

The grant application meets the criteria for a Level 1 grant award per the grant guidelines. Sufficient grant
funds for FY2026 remain to award this grant.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS:ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS:

Approve the Historic Signs and Facades Grant application with additional conditions. 
Deny the Historic Signs and Facades Grant application.

HAS THERE BEEN PREVIOUS COMMISSION DECISION ON THIS:HAS THERE BEEN PREVIOUS COMMISSION DECISION ON THIS:
None.

AttachmentsAttachments
HPC-G Application
Pella Window Quote
Pella Lifestyle Series Casement Unit Sections
Floor Plan



Window Reference Photos













Proposal - Detailed

Sales Rep E-Mail: pmalis@myhomco.com

Builders FirstSource #8300

Flagstaff, AZ 86001
1763 E Butler Ave

Sales Rep Name: ALLIANCEFLAGSTAF, F
Sales Rep Phone: 928-779-6111

Sales Rep Fax:

Customer Information Project/Delivery Address Order Information

Primary Phone:
Mobile Phone:
Fax Number:
E-Mail:
Contact Name:

County:
Owner Name:

Owner Phone:

Order Number:

Quote Number:

Quote Name:

Cust Delivery Date:
Quoted Date:

Order Type:

Payment Terms:

Customer PO #:

Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 123 S Beaver

P74

(928) 7796111

Builders FirstSource-08300
BUILDERS FIRST SOURCE
2001 Bryan Street
DALLAS, TX 75201-3017

Non-Installed Sales

(928) 7796111
Builders FirstSource-08300

08300 Builders FirstSource
1763 E Butler Ave

COCONINO

17634590

12/12/2023

FLAGSTAFF, AZ 86001

Booked Date:

1/2/2024

Lot #

Wall Depth:

Contracted Date:Great Plains #: 7408300

Tax Code:

Customer Number:
Customer Account: 7408300

1010702977

7of1PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Location:

Rough Opening:

Attributes

Viewed From Exterior

Item Price Ext'd Price

Line #

Qty

11

CONFIRM SWING

35 - 3/4" X 73 - 3/4"

Lifestyle, Casement Right, 35 X 73, With HGP, Brown
$1,498.10 $16,479.10

10

1: 3573 Right Casement
Frame Size: 35 X 73
Unit Type: No Program
General Information: No Package, With Hinged Glass Panel, Clad, Pine, 5", 3 11/16"
Exterior Color / Finish: Standard Enduraclad, Brown
Interior Color / Finish: Prefinished White Paint Interior
Glass: Insulated Low-E  AdvancedComfort Low-E Insulating Glass Air Filled High Altitude
Hinge Panel: Clear, Annealed
Hardware Options: Wash Hinge Hardware, Fold-Away Crank, White, No Window Opening Control Device, No Limited Opening Hardware, No Integrated

Sensor
Screen: Full Screen, White, InView™
Unit Accessories: Snap-In Between-The-Glass Blind Bottom-Up, Mocha, Manual
Performance Information: U-Factor  0.21, SHGC 0.23, VLT 0.43, CPD PEL-N-245-00278-00001, Performance Class LC, PG 25, Calculated Positive DP

Rating 25, Calculated Negative DP Rating 25, FPA FL11865, STC 32, OITC 26, Clear Opening Width 25.25, Clear Opening Height 68.875, Clear Opening
Area 12.07704, Egress Meets minimum clear opening and 5.7 sq.ft
Grille: GBG, No Custom Grille, 3/4" Contour, Traditional (3W4H), Brown, Brown

Wrapping Information: 6" Installation Clips, Factory Supplied, Shipped Separate, No Exterior Trim, 3 11/16", 5", Factory Applied, Manufacturer 
Recommended Clearance, Perimeter Length = 216".

PK #

2202

Location:

Rough Opening:

Attributes

Viewed From Exterior

Item Price Ext'd Price

Line #

Qty

2

CONFIRM SWING

35 - 3/4" X 73 - 3/4"

Lifestyle, Casement Right, 35 X 73, With HGP, Brown
$1,728.22 $3,456.44

12

1: 3573 Right  Casement
Frame Size: 35 X 73
Unit Type: No Program
General Information: No Package, With Hinged Glass Panel, Clad, Pine, 5", 3 11/16"
Exterior Color / Finish: Standard Enduraclad, Brown
Interior Color / Finish: Prefinished White Paint Interior
Glass: Insulated Tempered Low-E  AdvancedComfort Low-E Insulating Glass Air Filled High Altitude
Hinge Panel: Clear, Tempered
Hardware Options: Wash Hinge Hardware, Fold-Away Crank, White, No Window Opening Control Device, No Limited Opening Hardware, No Integrated

Sensor
Screen: Full Screen, White, InView™
Unit Accessories: Snap-In Between-The-Glass Blind Bottom-Up, Mocha, Manual
Performance Information: U-Factor  0.21, SHGC 0.23, VLT 0.43, CPD PEL-N-245-00278-00001, Performance Class LC, PG 50, Calculated Positive DP

Rating 50, Calculated Negative DP Rating 50, FPA FL11865, STC 32, OITC 26, Clear Opening Width 25.25, Clear Opening Height 68.875, Clear Opening
Area 12.07704, Egress Meets minimum clear opening and 5.7 sq.ft
Grille: GBG, No Custom Grille, 3/4" Contour, Traditional (3W4H), Brown, Brown

Wrapping Information: 6" Installation Clips, Factory Supplied, Shipped Separate, No Exterior Trim, 3 11/16", 5", Factory Applied, Manufacturer 
Recommended Clearance, Perimeter Length = 216".

PK #

2203

Customer: Quote Number:  Project Name:Builders FirstSource-08300 Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 17634590

7of2PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Location:

Rough Opening:

Attributes

Viewed From Exterior

Item Price Ext'd Price

Line #

Qty

2

18" X 37.75"

Lifestyle, Casement Right, 17.25 X 37, With HGP, Brown
$949.15 $1,898.30

15

1: Non-Standard SizeNon-Standard Size Right Casement
Frame Size: 17 1/4 X 37
Unit Type: No Program
General Information: No Package, With Hinged Glass Panel, Clad, Pine, 5", 3 11/16"
Exterior Color / Finish: Standard Enduraclad, Brown
Interior Color / Finish: Prefinished White Paint Interior
Glass: Insulated Low-E  AdvancedComfort Low-E Insulating Glass Air Filled High Altitude
Hinge Panel: Clear, Annealed
Hardware Options: Wash Hinge Hardware, Fold-Away Crank, White, No Window Opening Control Device, No Limited Opening Hardware, No Integrated

Sensor
Screen: Full Screen, White, InView™
Unit Accessories: Snap-In Between-The-Glass Blind Bottom-Up, Mocha, Manual
Performance Information: U-Factor  0.21, SHGC 0.24, VLT 0.43, CPD PEL-N-245-00276-00001, Performance Class LC, PG 50, Calculated Positive DP

Rating 50, Calculated Negative DP Rating 50, FPA FL11865, STC 32, OITC 26, Clear Opening Width 7.5, Clear Opening Height 32.875, Clear Opening Area
1.71224, Egress Does not meet typical United States egress, but may comply with local code requirements
Grille: GBG, No Custom Grille, 3/4" Contour, Traditional (1W3H), Brown, Brown

Wrapping Information: 6" Installation Clips, Factory Supplied, Shipped Separate, No Exterior Trim, 3 11/16", 5", Factory Applied, Manufacturer 
Recommended Clearance, Perimeter Length = 109".

PK #

2202

Location:

Rough Opening:

Attributes

Viewed From Exterior

Item Price Ext'd Price

Line #

Qty

2

18" X 37.75"

Lifestyle, Casement Left, 17.25 X 37, With HGP, Brown
$949.15 $1,898.30

20

1: Non-Standard SizeNon-Standard Size Left  Casement
Frame Size: 17 1/4 X 37
Unit Type: No Program
General Information: No Package, With Hinged Glass Panel, Clad, Pine, 5", 3 11/16"
Exterior Color / Finish: Standard Enduraclad, Brown
Interior Color / Finish: Prefinished White Paint Interior
Glass: Insulated Low-E  AdvancedComfort Low-E Insulating Glass Air Filled High Altitude
Hinge Panel: Clear, Annealed
Hardware Options: Wash Hinge Hardware, Fold-Away Crank, White, No Window Opening Control Device, No Limited Opening Hardware, No Integrated

Sensor
Screen: Full Screen, White, InView™
Unit Accessories: Snap-In Between-The-Glass Blind Bottom-Up, Mocha, Manual
Performance Information: U-Factor  0.21, SHGC 0.24, VLT 0.43, CPD PEL-N-245-00276-00001, Performance Class LC, PG 50, Calculated Positive DP

Rating 50, Calculated Negative DP Rating 50, FPA FL11865, STC 32, OITC 26, Clear Opening Width 7.5, Clear Opening Height 32.875, Clear Opening Area
1.71224, Egress Does not meet typical United States egress, but may comply with local code requirements
Grille: GBG, No Custom Grille, 3/4" Contour, Traditional (1W3H), Brown, Brown

Wrapping Information: 6" Installation Clips, Factory Supplied, Shipped Separate, No Exterior Trim, 3 11/16", 5", Factory Applied, Manufacturer 
Recommended Clearance, Perimeter Length = 109".

PK #

2203

Customer: Quote Number:  Project Name:Builders FirstSource-08300 Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 17634590

7of3PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Customer: Quote Number:  Project Name:Builders FirstSource-08300 Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 17634590

Thank You For Your Interest In Pella® Products

7of4PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Customer: Quote Number:  Project Name:Builders FirstSource-08300 Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 17634590

PELLA WARRANTY:

Pella products are covered by Pella's limited warranties in effect at the time of sale. All applicable product warranties are incorporated into and become a part of  
this contract. Please see the warranties for complete details, taking special note of the two important notice sections regarding installation of Pella products and
proper management of moisture within the wall system. Neither Pella Corporation nor the Seller will be bound by any other warranty unless specifically set out in
this contract.  However, Pella Corporation will not be liable for branch warranties which create obligations in addition to or obligations which are inconsistent with
Pella written warranties.

Clear opening (egress) information does not take into consideration the addition of a Rolscreen [or any other accessory] to the product. You should consult your  
local building code to ensure your Pella products meet local egress requirements.

Per the manufacturer’s limited warranty, unfinished mahogany exterior windows and doors must be finished upon receipt prior to installing and refinished
annually, thereafter.  Variations in wood grain, color, texture or natural characteristics are not covered under the limited warranty.

INSYNCTIVE PRODUCTS: In addition, Pella Insynctive Products are covered by the Pella Insynctive Products Software License Agreement and Pella
Insynctive Products Privacy Policy in effect at the time of sale, which can be found at Insynctive.pella.com.  By installing or using Your Insynctive Products you
are acknowledging the Insynctive Software Agreement and Privacy Policy are part of the terms of sale.

Notice of Collection of Personal Information: We may collect your personal information when you interact with us. Under the California Consumer Privacy Act
(CCPA), California residents have specific rights to request this information, request to delete this information, and opt out of the sharing or sale of this
information to third parties. To learn more about our collection practices and your rights under the CCPA please visit our link https://www.pella.com/california-
rights-policy/ at pella.com.

ARBITRATION AND CLASS ACTION WAIVER ("ARBITRATION AGREEMENT")

YOU and Pella and its subsidiaries and the Pella Branded Distributor  AGREE TO ARBITRATE DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO YOUR
PELLA PRODUCTS (INCLUDES PELLA GOODS AND PELLA SERVICES) AND WAIVE THE RIGHT TO HAVE A COURT OR JURY DECIDE DISPUTES.
YOU WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO PROCEED AS A MEMBER OR REPRESENTATIVE OF A CLASS ACTION, INCLUDING CLASS ARBITRATION, REGARDING  
DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO YOUR PELLA PRODUCTS. You may opt out of this Arbitration Agreement by providing notice to Pella no
later than ninety (90) calendar days from the date You purchased or otherwise took ownership of Your Pella Goods. To opt out, You must send notice by e-mail
to pellawebsupport@pella.com , with the subject line: “Arbitration Opt Out” or by calling (877) 473-5527. Opting out of the Arbitration Agreement will not affect
the coverage provided by any applicable limited warranty pertaining to Your Pella Products. For complete information, including the full terms and conditions of  
this Arbitration Agreement, which are incorporated herein by reference, please visit www.pella.com/arbitration or e-mail to pellawebsupport@pella.com, with the
subject line: “Arbitration Details” or call (877) 473-5527. D'ARBITRAGE ET RENONCIATION AU RECOURS COLLECTIF ("convention d'arbitrage") EN
FRANÇAIS SEE PELLA.COM/ARBITRATION. DE ARBITRAJE Y RENUNCIA COLECTIVA ("acuerdo de arbitraje") EN ESPAÑOL VER
PELLA.COM/ARBITRATION.

Seller shall not be held liable for failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, if such performance is hindered or delayed by the
occurrence of an act or event beyond the Seller’s reasonable control (force majeure event), including but not limited to earthquakes, unusually severe weather  
and other Acts of God, fire, strikes and labor unrest, epidemics, riots, war, civil unrest, and government interventions.  Seller shall give timely notice of a force
majeure event and take such reasonable action to mitigate the impacts of such an event.

Product Performance Information:

U-Factor, Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC), and Visible Light Transmittance (VLT) are certified by the National Fenestration Rating Council (NFRC).

7of5PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Customer: Quote Number:  Project Name:Builders FirstSource-08300 Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 17634590

Manufacturer stipulates that these ratings conform to applicable NFRC procedures for determining whole product performance. NFRC ratings are determined for  
a fixed set of environmental conditions and a specific product size. NFRC does not recommend any products and does not warrant the suitability of any product
for any specific use.

Design Pressure (DP), Performance Class, and Performance Grade (PG) are certified by a third party organization, in many cases the Window and Door  
Manufacturers Association (WDMA). The certification requires the performance of at least one product of the product line to be tested in accordance with the
applicable performance standards and verified by an independent party. The certification indicates that the product(s) of the product line passed the applicable
tests. The certification does not apply to mulled and/or product combinations unless noted. Actual product results will vary and change over the products life.

For more performance information along with information on Florida Product Approval System (FPAS) Number and Texas Dept. of Insurance (TDI) number go to
www.pella.com/performance.

Including during the construction period, casement windows should never be left open and unlocked for prolong periods or during high wind conditions to avoid
sash detachment/damage.

Actual sizes tested for documented STC and OITC ratings may vary from the ASTM E 1425 sizes to better represent Pella product offering.

STC and OITC ratings shown may be conservatively based on products tested with thinner panes of glass.

STC and OITC ratings may be from test results from an equivalent product.

7of6PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Customer: Quote Number:  Project Name:Builders FirstSource-08300 Flagstaff Christian Fellowship 17634590

Order Totals

Taxable Subtotal

Sales Tax @

Non-taxable Subtotal

Total

Deposit Received
Amount Due

$23,732.14

$0.00

$23,732.14

$0.00

0% $0.00

$23,732.14

Note: These totals DO NOT include tax

7of7PagePrinted on Detailed Proposal
For more information regarding the finishing, maintenance, service and warranty of all Pella® products, visit the Pella® website at www.pella.com

5/14/2025



Pella 2025 Architectural Design Manual  |  Division 08 – Openings  |  Windows and Doors  |  www.Pella.com LS-CM-30

Lifestyle Series Casement

Unit Sections - Dual-Pane

[4
5]

1 
3/

4"

[45]
1 3/4"

[4
5]

1 
3/

4"

[45]
1 3/4"

FIXED

FRAME WIDTH

FR
AM

E 
H

EI
G

H
T

Installation Fin
Optional Fold-out

Installation Fin
Optional Fold-out

FRAME WIDTH

[37]
1 7/16"

[19]
3/4"

[62]
2 7/16"

[62]
2 7/16"

[19]
3/4"

[37]
1 7/16"

[6
2]

2 
7/

16
"

[1
9]

3/
4"

[3
7]

1 
7/

16
"

FR
AM

E 
H

EI
G

H
T

[19]
3/4"

[1
9]

3/
4"

[9
4]

3 
11

/1
6"

[3
3]

1 
5/

16
"

VENT

[19]
3/4"

[1
9]

3/
4"

[3
7]

1 
7/

16
"

[1
9]

3/
4"

[3
3]

1 
5/

16
"

[9
4]

3 
11

/1
6"

[6
2]

2 
7/

16
"

[127]
5"

VENT /  FIXED
VERTICAL JOINING MULLION

FIXED / VENT
HORIZONTAL JOINING MULLION

VENT /  VENT
VERTICAL JOINING MULLION

HJ

VH

VS

FH

FS

LJ

FJ

FS FIXED SILL

FH FIXED HEAD

VH VENT HEAD

VS VENT SILL

LOCK JAMBLJ HINGE JAMBHJ

Scale 3" = 1' 0"
All dimensions are approximate. 
See supporting document Combination Recommendations for mullion limitations and reinforcing requirements.



0102030405060708

CL

0009

S1
S2 S3 S4 S5 S6 S7 S8 S9

S

N

NE

SE

N1 N2 N3 N4

CRY RM.

SOUND EQUIP. RM

BAPTISMAL

EXISTING SOUND 
BOOTH

FOYER SANCTUARYPROJECT DATA:
FLAGSTAFF CHRISTIAN FELLOWSHIP

123 S BEAVER ST
FLAGSTAFF, AZ 86001

APN: 103-07-032A

NATIONAL REGISTER HISTORIC DISTRICT - 
SOUTHSIDE HISTORIC DISTRICT

ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: CIRCA 1932
EXPANSION: 1960

ZONING: CC - COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL
USE: ASSEMBLY/ PLACE OF WORSHIP
OCCUPANCY: A3

SCOPE OF WORK:  
SCOPE OF WORK INTENDED TO BE FULL 
WINDOW REPLACEMENT "LIKE FOR LIKE"  
FOR UNITS SHOWN IN THIS PLAN, V.I.F.

FIRST FLOOR
0' - 0"

V.
I.F

.

3'
 - 

8"
5"

V.
I.F

.

5'
 - 

11
"

V.
I.F

.

10
' -

 0
" �

± TG

3' - 1"

TG

3' - 1"

4'
 - 

1"
5'

 - 
11

"

10
' -

 0
"

TG

4'
 - 

1"
5'

 - 
11

"

10
' -

 0
"

3' - 1"

TG

4'
 - 

1"
5'

 - 
11

"

10
' -

 0
"

3' - 1"

FLARED JAMB & SILL CONDITION
(SHOWN FOR REFERENCE)

HOPPER UNIT 
(TYP. OF ALL AS SHOWN)
INTERIOR SWING, V.I.F.

V.I.F.

3' - 4" ±

V.
I.F

.

5'
 - 

11
" ±

TG

INDICATES SAFETY GLAZING 
(FOR ALL PANES IN OR ADJ. TO 
OPERABLE UNIT)

APPROXIMATE DIMENSION (TYP. OF ALL)
VERIFY IN FIELD (TYP. OF ALL)

5'
 - 

11
"

3' - 1"

TG

3' - 1"

5'
 - 

11
"

3'
 - 

7"

9'
 - 

6" TG

3' - 1"

5'
 - 

11
"

3'
 - 

7"

9'
 - 

6" TG

3' - 1"

5'
 - 

11
"

3'
 - 

7"

9'
 - 

6" TG TG

3' - 1"

5'
 - 

11
"

9'
 - 

6"

TG

5'
 - 

11
"

9'
 - 

6"

3' - 1"

COLORED/ MOTTLED GLASS

CLEAR GLAZING

TG

3' - 1"

5'
 - 

11
"

3'
 - 

7"

9'
 - 

6" TG 5'
 - 

11
" ±

3'
 - 

7"
 ±

V.I.F.

3' - 1" ±

V.
I.F

.

9'
 - 

6"

APPROXIMATE DIMENSION (TYP. OF ALL UNITS)
VERIFY IN FIELD (TYP. OF ALL UNITS)

FIRST FLOOR
0' - 0"

V.
I.F

.

3'
 - 

0"
 ±

V.
I.F

.

4'
 - 

11
"

V.I.F.

1' - 4" ±

COLORED/ MOTTLED GLASS

TG TG

FIRST FLOOR
0' - 0"

TG

1' - 4"

4'
 - 

11
"

3'
 - 

0"

ALL UNITS TO BE FIELD-VERIFIED PRIOR TO FABRICATION, V.I.F.

TG

1' - 4" ±

V.
I.F

.

3'
 - 

0"

V.
I.F

.

4'
 - 

11
"V.

I.F
.

7'
 - 

11
"

2406.4.6 GLAZING ADJACENT TO 
STAIRWAYS AND RAMPS.
GLAZING WHERE THE BOTTOM EXPOSED 
EDGE OF THE GLAZING IS LESS THAN 60 
INCHES (1524 MM) ABOVE THE PLANE OF 
THE ADJACENT WALKING SURFACE OF 
STAIRWAYS, LANDINGS BETWEEN 
FLIGHTS OF STAIRS AND RAMPS SHALL 
BE CONSIDERED TO BE A HAZARDOUS 
LOCATION.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

SCOPE OF WORK INTENDED TO BE FULL WINDOW REPLACEMENT "LIKE FOR LIKE"  FOR UNITS SHOWN IN THIS PLAN, V.I.F.

ALL WINDOWS ARE SHOWN AS VIEWED FROM THE INTERIOR

INSTALLATION, ATTACHMENT AND HEAD-JAMB-SILL DETAILING SHALL BE PER CITY OF FLAGSTAFF APPROVED MFG. WRITTEN DIRECTION, 
VI.F. 

WINDOW UNITS OCCURRING AT EXPOSED HEAVY TIMBER FRAMING TO BE CENTERED ON MEMBER, ATTACHMENT PER MGF. WRITTEN 
INSTRUCTIONS, V.I.F.

ALL FULL-LITE ALUMINUM WINDOWS SHALL BE MFG SERIES. COORDINATE UNITS w/ INTERMEDIATE MUNTINS w/ ARCHITECT IN FIELD.

COORDINATE FRAME COLOR AND HARDWARE SELECTION FROM MFG'S FULL LINE w/ ARCHITECT IN THE FIELD

GLAZING  IN ALL WINDOW UNITS SHALL BE CLEAR INSULATED GLASS w/ LOW-E COATING ON SURFACE #2 UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE. 

PER 2018 IECC R402.1.2 MAX U-FACTOR FOR CLIMATE ZONE 5B = 0.30 MAX

ALL OPERABLE AND CASEMENT WINDOWS SHALL MATCH EXISTING OPERATION/ FUNCTION, V.I.F..

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR/ INSTALLER TO FIELD VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS OF ALL WINDOW UNITS PRIOR TO 
FABRICATION, V.I.F.
DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE DIAGRAMMATIC.

CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE WINDOWS  ARE ENGINEERED FOR PROPER WIND-SPEED RESISTANCE V.I.F.

ALL PANES IN AND ADJACENT TO OPERABLE UNITS SHALL BE TEMPERED/ SAFETY GLAZING IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2018 IBC 2406 

GLASS PANES IN DOORS AND WINDOWS OCCURRING IN HAZARDOUS LOCATIONS SHALL BE REQUIRED TO RECEIVE SAFETY GLAZING 
DESIGNATION, I.E. TEMPERING IN ACCORDANCE WITH IRC 2018 - DISGNATED AS 'TG' IN ELEVATIONS

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

TYPICAL: INFORMATION REGARDING THE COMPLETE WORK OF TRADES & SUB-TRADES IS DISPERSED THROUGHOUT THE DOCUMENT AND CANNOT BE COMPLETELY 
DETERMINED BY REFERNCE TO ANYTHING OTHER THAN A COMPLETE DOCUMENT SET

ALL NEW CONSTRUCTION SHALL IN ALL RESPECTS BE OF THE BEST INDUSTRY ACCEPTED STANDARDS. 

ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL APPLICABLE CODES AND ORDINANCES.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS IN FIELD. IF DIMENSIONAL ERROR OCCURS OR CONDITIONS NOT COVERED IN THE DRAWINGS ARE 
ENCOUNTERED CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT IN WRITING BEFORE COMMENCING THAT PORTION OF THE WORK.   

DO NOT SCALE THE DRAWINGS.

THE STARTING OF WORK BY ANY CONTRACTOR OR SUBCONTRACTOR SHALL BE CONSIDERED PRIMAFACIE EVIDENCE THAT SAID CONTRACTOR HAS INSPECTED AND 
ACCEPTED ALL CONDITIONS INVOLVED IN THE WORK AND FINDS THEM SATISFACTORY.

IN GENERAL, THE DRAWINGS ARE DIAGRAMMATIC. WHEN QUESTIONS REGARDING THE DRAWINGS ARISE THE CONTRACTOR SHALL OBTAIN THE ARCHITECT'S 
DECISION AS IT RELATES TO THE MATTER AND THE ARCHITECT'S DECISION SHALL BE FINAL.

ALL NOTES ARE GENERAL IN NATURE AND ARE INTENDED TO SET MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CONSTRUCTION. WHERE THERE IS A CONFLICT BETWEEN DRAWINGS, 
SPECIFICATIONS AND NOTES, THE MORE STRINGENT SHALL GOVERN. THE MORE STRINGENT IS NECESSARILY THE ITEM OF GREATER MONETARY COST.

CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE ALL NECESSARY PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES TO PROTECT THE PUBLIC AND ADJACENT PROPERTIES FROM DAMAGE THROUGHOUT 
CONSTRUCTION.

CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE ALL NECESSARY TEMPORARY SUPPORT FOR WALLS AND FLOORS PRIOR TO COMPLETION OF VERTICAL AND LATERAL LOAD SYSTEMS.

THE OWNER AGREES THAT IN THE EVENT THAT THE A.H.J. REQUIRES CONSTRUCTION MODIFICATIONS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF A BUILDING PERMIT THE ARCHITECT 
AND HIS CONSULTANTS WILL BE HELD HARMLESS FOR ANY AND ALL ADDITIONAL COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH MODIFICATIONS.

P
R
E

L I
MINA

R
Y

N
O
T
F
O
R

C O N S T R

U
C
T
I
O
N

JOB NO:
DATE:

REVISIONS:

TITLE:
SCALE:

1254 W. UNIVERSITY AVE. #100
FLAGSTAFF AZ 86001
Phone: 928-779-4340

REECE STUDIO ARCHITECTS, PLLC. EXPRESSLY 
RESERVES THE COMMON LAW COPYRIGHT AND 

OTHER PROPERTY RIGHTS IN THESE PLANS. THESE 
PLANS ARE NOT TO BE CHANGED OR COPIED IN ANY 
FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER NOR ARE THEY TO 
BE ASSIGNED TO ANY THIRD PARTY WITHOUT FIRST 
OBTAINING WRITTEN PERMISSION AND CONSENT OF 

REECE STUDIO ARCHITECTS, PLLC. ©

As indicated

FC
F S

AN
CT

UA
RY

 T.
I.

FL
AG

ST
AF

F C
HR

IS
TIA

N 
FE

LL
OW

SH
IP

12
3 S

 B
EA

VE
R 

ST
FL

AG
ST

AF
F, 

AZ
 86

00
1

2025-05-26

23014

WINDOW LEGEND

A6.1

FLOOR PLAN - EXISTING

0' 4' 8'2'

N

N1 N2 N3 N4

S1 S2 S3 S4 S5 S6 S7 S8 S9S SE

N NE

SAFETY GLAZING NOTE

WINDOW NOTESGENERAL NOTES



WINDOW 'NE'
CASEMNT (HINGE LEFT)
FACING INTERIOR

WINDOW 'SE'
CASEMNT (HINGE LEFT)

FACING INTERIORWINDOW 'N1'
HOPPER TO INTERIOR
FACING INTERIOR

WINDOW 'S1'
HOPPER TO INTERIOR

FACING INTERIOR

TYPICAL WINDOW OPENING AT 
SANCTUARY SHOWING BUILT-
UP JAMB/ SILL TO MASONRY 

EXT.

EXTERIOR VIEW:
 TYPICAL WINDOW OPENING AT 
SANCTUARY SHOWING BUILT-UP 
JAMB/ SILL TO MASONRY 

P
R
E

L I
MINA

R
Y

N
O
T
F
O
R

C O N S T R

U
C
T
I
O
N

JOB NO:
DATE:

REVISIONS:

TITLE:
SCALE:

1254 W. UNIVERSITY AVE. #100
FLAGSTAFF AZ 86001
Phone: 928-779-4340

REECE STUDIO ARCHITECTS, PLLC. EXPRESSLY 
RESERVES THE COMMON LAW COPYRIGHT AND 
OTHER PROPERTY RIGHTS IN THESE PLANS. THESE 
PLANS ARE NOT TO BE CHANGED OR COPIED IN ANY 
FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER NOR ARE THEY TO 
BE ASSIGNED TO ANY THIRD PARTY WITHOUT FIRST 
OBTAINING WRITTEN PERMISSION AND CONSENT OF 

REECE STUDIO ARCHITECTS, PLLC. ©

 3/4" = 1'-0"

FC
F S
AN
CT
UA
RY
 T.
I.

FL
AG
ST
AF
F C
HR
IS
TIA
N 
FE
LL
OW
SH
IP

12
3 S
 B
EA
VE
R 
ST

FL
AG
ST
AF
F, 
AZ
 86
00
1

2025-05-26

23014

WINDOW PHOTO
REFERENCE

A6.2

02 - HISTORICAL INTERIOR - LOOKING EAST 03 - HISTORICAL INTERIOR - DURING CONSTRUCTION

09 - HISTORICAL EXTERIOR - DURING CONSTRUCTION

INT. DETAIL PHOTO 01

INT. DETAIL PHOTO 02 INT. DETAIL PHOTO 03 INT. DETAIL PHOTO 04 INT. DETAIL PHOTO 05

INT. DETAIL PHOTO 00



    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 6.  B.  6.  B.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: 19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study

PROPERTY INFORMATION:PROPERTY INFORMATION:
Address:Address:  19 W. Birch Ave. 
Assessor's Parcel Number:Assessor's Parcel Number:  100-19-004-A 
Property Owner:Property Owner:  Capri Flagstaff LLC 
Applicant:Applicant:   Jim O'Connell 
City Staff:City Staff:   Lauren Clementino HPO

REQUESTED ACTION:REQUESTED ACTION:
Approval of the 19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study and selection of measures to mitigate the
proposed major impact of demolition of the property.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approval of the 19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study with selection of mitigation. Cornerstone
Environmental Consulting, LLC, was contracted by Capri Flagstaff LCC to conduct a Phase I Cultural
Resource Study. This building has not been previously studied. It is located within the Downtown Historic
Overlay Zone, but outside of the Railroad Addition Historic District. The owner proposes to demolish the
existing building and associated infrastructure on the parcel to construct a hotel. At this time, the site plan for
the hotel has not yet been submitted for development review. The demolition and new hotel proposal will be
subject to a Certificate of Appropriateness and scheduled for public hearing with the Heritage Preservation
Commission during the development review process.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS:ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS:

1. The Commission could request modifications to the study or proposed mitigation measures and include
them as conditions of approval.

2. Continue the HPC review to a date certain and ask the applicant to come back with a modified proposal
that meets those conditions.

HAS THERE BEEN PREVIOUS COMMISSION DECISION ON THIS:HAS THERE BEEN PREVIOUS COMMISSION DECISION ON THIS:
At the May 21, 2025 meeting, the Heritage Preservation Commission reviewed a previous submittal of the
Phase I study and moved "to not accept the report and ask for revisions with a further re-evaluation of
Flagstaff Criteria B and D and do further research into courts or the role of the courts in the building, social
movements, construction methods and processes, and the post-WWII boom in Flagstaff, through documents
such as oral histories, historic photos, architectural and City records and NAU newspapers, and to reduce the
focus on interior integrity in their assessment."

AttachmentsAttachments
HPC-CRS Application
Phase I Cultural Resource Study









 

 
 

Phase 1 Historic Resource Study for 19 West 
Birch Avenue in Flagstaff  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared for 

Capri, Inc. 

 

 

 



 

 
Phase 1 Historic Resource Study for 19 West Birch 

Avenue in Flagstaff 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Capri, Inc. 

 

Prepared by 
Caitlin Stewart, M.A., RPA 

Samuel Hemsley, M.A., RPA 
Jack W. Treichler, M.A., RPA 

Jordan Lee, M.A., RPA 
 
 
 
 
 

Submitted by 

Caitlin Stewart, M.A., RPA  
 

 
 
 

Cornerstone Environmental Consulting, LLC 
320 N. Leroux Street, Suite A 

Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
(928) 522-4148 

www.Cornerstone-Environmental.com 
 
 

Cornerstone Environmental Report No. CEC 25-105 

 

 

June 25, 2025 (Revised July 9, 2025)



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Table of Photographs .................................................................................................................................... ii 

Table of Figures ........................................................................................................................................... iii 

Summary of Findings .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.0 Project Location and Description ............................................................................................................ 2 

2.0 Regulatory Context ................................................................................................................................. 8 

3.0 Methodology ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.0 Historical Background .......................................................................................................................... 10 

4.1 Flagstaff City Council ....................................................................................................................... 13 
4.2 Flagstaff Municipal Court ................................................................................................................. 15 
4.3 Flagstaff Police Department.............................................................................................................. 16 
4.4. Flagstaff Fire Department ................................................................................................................ 18 
4.5 Other Facilities and City Offices ...................................................................................................... 20 
4.6 Social History.................................................................................................................................... 20 

5.0 Site and Building History ...................................................................................................................... 26 

6.0 Architecture........................................................................................................................................... 39 

7.0 Architectural Description ...................................................................................................................... 41 

8.0 Evaluation of Significance and Integrity .............................................................................................. 52 

8.1 Social History and Government ........................................................................................................ 54 
8.2 Significant Persons ............................................................................................................................ 55 
8.3 Architecture....................................................................................................................................... 56 
8.4 Integrity ............................................................................................................................................. 57 

9.0 Summary and Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 59 

10.0 Preparer’s Qualifications .................................................................................................................... 60 

References ................................................................................................................................................... 62 

 

 

 

 

 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
ii 

Table of Photographs 

Photograph 1. Northeast facing photograph of the west face of the building, showing the entrance to what 

was once City Hall. ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

Photograph 2. Photograph of the initial stages of construction of City Hall in 1951 (Babbit 1950). ......... 27 

Photograph 3. West elevation of the studied building at 19 West Birch Avenue, the City Hall and Fire 

Department portions of the building are visible. ......................................................................................... 43 

Photograph 4. North elevation of 19 West Birch Avenue, showing the north entryway into the building. 44 

Photograph 5. East facing photograph showing the entryway to southern portion of the building which 

once housed the fire department. ................................................................................................................ 45 

Photograph 6. South facing exterior of the former fire department, which exits into an alleyway. ........... 45 

Photograph 7. East elevation of 19 West Birch Avenue, showing the east facade of the former police 

station. ......................................................................................................................................................... 48 

Photograph 8. South facing façade of the former fire department, showing the extension of the roof which 

forms a canopy. ........................................................................................................................................... 48 

Photograph 9. Elevator in the central area of the building connecting to the second floor. ....................... 49 

Photograph 10. The entryway and lobby of the engineering firm which occupies what would have once 

been the Fire Department garage, facing west through what was formerly a garage bay door. ................. 49 

Photograph 11. A room in the former Police Department, which is now used as a metalsmith workshop, 

facing east. .................................................................................................................................................. 50 

Photograph 12. The basement vault room which was once used to hold city records and receipts. ........... 50 

Photograph 13. One of the former jail cells in the former Police Department. The decorative overhead 

light fixtures are a modern addition and have a birch wood trim. .............................................................. 51 

Photograph 14. South facing photograph showing the south entrance to the former Police Department. .. 51 

 

 

 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
iii 

Table of Figures 

Figure 1. The City Hall building as it appeared newly constructed (Arizona Daily Sun 1951). .................. 3 

Figure 2. Topographic map showing the project area. .................................................................................. 4 

Figure 3. Aerial imagery showing the project area. ...................................................................................... 5 

Figure 4. Topographic map showing the various historic districts around the project area.......................... 6 

Figure 5. Aerial imagery showing the project area and studied building. .................................................... 7 

Figure 6. Article describing the damage to City Hall and clean-up efforts after a flood in the basement of 

19 West Birch Avenue. ................................................................................................................................. 9 

Figure 7. Remodeling plans for the Magistrate Court room at City Hall (Arizona Daily Sun 1971). ........ 16 

Figure 8. Police Captain Elmo Maxwell, left, presents Police Chief William Epperson, right, with a watch 

(Arizona Daily Sun 1960). .......................................................................................................................... 17 

Figure 9. A Flagstaff Fire Department firetruck pulling out of the 19 West Birch Avenue garage 

(Alexander 2017). ....................................................................................................................................... 18 

Figure 10. Newspaper article describing the enthusiastic removal of the fire horn from 19 West Birch 

(Arizona Daily Sun 1977). .......................................................................................................................... 19 

Figure 11. Article describing a protest by the American Indian Movement in Flagstaff, ending with the 

arrest of protesters by the Flagstaff Police Department (Arizona Daily Sun 1972). .................................. 21 

Figure 12. Newspaper article describing bail for the AIM protestors. Tucson Citizen July 5, 1972. ......... 22 

Figure 13. Newspaper article stating the result of suit against City of Flagstaff and Flagstaff Police 

Department for false arrests and unjust treatment of Native Americans (Arizona Daily Sun 1977). ......... 24 

Figure 14. Newspaper article discussing the need for a new City Hall and the conditions of the Police 

Department (Arizona Daily Sun 1949). ...................................................................................................... 28 

Figure 15. Newspaper article discussing the opening of new City Hall in 1982 (Arizona Daily Sun 1982).

 .................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Figure 16. Photo showing the finished renovation of the Police Department in 1982, when the department 

moved locations in the building from 19 West Birch and into what used to house the municipal offices at 

120 North Beaver (Arizona Daily Sun 1985a). ........................................................................................... 29 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
iv 

Figure 17. 1890 Sanborn map showing a horse stable and two small outbuildings on the property. ......... 30 

Figure 18. 1892 Sanborn map showing a horse stable and two small outbuildings on the property. ......... 31 

Figure 19. 1895 Sanborn map showing a horse stable and one small outbuilding on the property. ........... 32 

Figure 20. 1901 Sanborn map showing a horse stable, a one room structure, and a small outbuilding on 

the property. ................................................................................................................................................ 33 

Figure 21. 1910 Sanborn map showing two horse stables and a small one room structure on the property.

 .................................................................................................................................................................... 34 

Figure 22. 1916 Sanborn map showing two horse stables, a single room structure, and a single room cabin 

on the property. ........................................................................................................................................... 35 

Figure 23. 1948 Sanborn map showing a dry-cleaning building on the property. ...................................... 36 

Figure 24. 1956 Sanborn map of downtown Flagstaff showing the layout of the City Hall building at 19 

West Birch Avenue. .................................................................................................................................... 37 

Figure 25. Historic aerial imagery from 1959 showing the project area and studied building. .................. 38 

Figure 26. Photograph of the building during its period of significance, from 1961 City of Flagstaff 

telephone directory. ..................................................................................................................................... 40 

Figure 27. Published rendering of the proposed building (Arizona Daily Sun 1950)................................. 41 

Figure 28. Plan view sketch map from the County Assessor’s Office of the first floor of the studied 

building, with north oriented towards the top of the page. ......................................................................... 42 

 

 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
1 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

Cornerstone Environmental Consulting, LLC (Cornerstone), was contracted by Capri, Inc. to conduct a 

Phase I Historic Resource Study for the proposed Hilton Graduate Hotel and Parking Garage Project 

pursuant to City of Flagstaff Zoning Code, Section 10-30.30.050.A. The Graduate Hotels are almost 

exclusively located in college towns and have a focus on celebrating university traditions and local 

culture. To facilitate the construction of the hotel, the project proponent plans to demolish all existing 

buildings, structures, and associated infrastructure on the parcel. While the current building is not planned 

to be utilized the proponent intends to utilize pieces of the exterior façade in construction features. The 

proposed project entails the redevelopment of the 0.49 acres located at 19 West Birch Avenue in the City 

of Flagstaff, Arizona. Two adjacent parcels, APN 100-19-007 and 100-19-008-A, will also be impacted 

by the demolition and construction, and have been researched and reported on by Cornerstone in two 

earlier letter reports presented to the City of Flagstaff. 

Cornerstone evaluated the building’s significance and recommends that the building is significant under 

City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP Criterion A for its association with the Native American civil 

rights movement in the City of Flagstaff involving the Flagstaff Police Department and Flagstaff 

Municipal Court, with sufficient integrity to qualify for eligibility. The court cases and subsequent 

American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) investigations are a pivotal moment in the recognition of the 

inequality among the citizens of Flagstaff and residents of Coconino County. The building is further 

recommended significant under City of Flagstaff Criterion D for its expression of vernacular midcentury 

architectural design, with sufficient integrity to qualify for eligibility, although this likely does not extend 

to NRHP Criterion C eligibility.  

Given the building’s recommended eligibility under City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP Criterion A, 

Cornerstone recommends that mitigation include the incorporation of the building’s history, the history of 

Native Americans in Flagstaff, and a discussion of the struggle for equality into the new construction in 

the form of a plaque, historic photographs placed in the lobby, and incorporation of some of the Malpais 

stone from the original building in a cornerstone as a remembrance of the historic building and of these 

significant events. Given the building’s recommended eligibility under City of Flagstaff Criterion D, 

further documentation such as architectural elevation drawings may also be appropriate. 

  



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
2 

1.0 PROJECT LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION 

The building at 19 West Birch Avenue (APN 100-19-004-A; Photograph 1; Figure 1; Figure 2; Figure 3; 

Figure 4; Figure 5) was built in 1951 and functioned as the Flagstaff City Hall, Fire Department, and 

Police Department and jail until 1980 when the civil departments began to move out of the building. As 

City Hall the building housed City Council, the mayor’s office, water department, the city engineer, and 

the city clerk at different times. Cornerstone Environmental Consulting, LLC (Cornerstone) was 

contracted by Capri, Inc. to conduct a Phase 1 Historic Resource Study (HRS) for the building on the 

parcel pursuant to City of Flagstaff Zoning Code, Section 10-30.30.050.A.  

Cornerstone evaluated the building’s significance and recommends that the building is significant under 

City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP Criterion A for its involvement in the social and political 

movements related to Native American treatment within the City of Flagstaff, specifically by the Flagstaff 

Police Department and Flagstaff Municipal Court. The court cases and subsequent American Civil 

Liberties Union (ACLU) investigations are a pivotal moment in the recognition of the inequality among 

the citizens of Flagstaff and residents of Coconino County. It is further recommended significant under 

City of Flagstaff Criterion D for its expression of vernacular midcentury architectural design. 

Given the building’s recommended eligibility under City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP Criterion A, 

Cornerstone recommends that mitigation include the incorporation of the building’s history, the history of 

Native Americans in Flagstaff, and a discussion of the struggle for equality into the new construction in 

the form of a plaque, historic photographs placed in the lobby, and incorporation of some of the Malpais 

stone from the original building in a cornerstone as a remembrance of the historic building and of these 

significant events. Given the building’s recommended eligibility under City of Flagstaff Criterion D, 

further documentation such as architectural elevation drawings may also be appropriate. 

Street Address: 19 West Birch Avenue; formerly 120 North Beaver Street 

APN: 100-19-004-A (0.49 acres) 

Subdivision: Flagstaff Townsite (Flagstaff 2011) 

Block: 19 

Lots: 13 through 18 

Construction Date: 1950–1951  

Period of Significance: 1882‒1975 

Building Period of Significance: 1951–1975 

Property Type: Commercial 

 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
3 

 

Photograph 1. Northeast facing photograph of the west face of the building, showing the entrance 
to what was once City Hall. 

Figure 1. The City Hall building as it appeared newly constructed (Arizona Daily Sun 1951). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
4 

 

Figure 2. Topographic map showing the project area. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
5 

 

Figure 3. Aerial imagery showing the project area. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
6 

 

Figure 4. Topographic map showing the various historic districts around the project area. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
7 

 

 
Figure 5. Aerial imagery showing the project area and studied building. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
8 

2.0 REGULATORY CONTEXT 

The purpose and content of a Phase 1 HRS is outlined in the Heritage Preservation Division of the City of 

Flagstaff Zoning Code. As stated in the Zoning Code (30.30-10), a Phase 1 HRS shall evaluate the 

significance of identified and potential historical resources, assess identified and potential impacts, 

provide measures to mitigate major impacts on said resources, and advise whether Phase 2 Historic 

Resource Studies should be required. 

The building at 19 West Birch Avenue was identified as 50 years of age or older and as a potential 

historical resource and was evaluated for significance and integrity to determine if it constituted a 

significant historical resource per the Flagstaff Zoning Code. The determination of significance for 

cultural resources is defined in Flagstaff Zoning Code (30.30-13) are summarized below and discussed 

further in 8.0 Evaluation of Significance and Integrity. 

The criteria for determining the significance of a historic resource are based on the potential of the 

historic resource to contribute to our understanding of the past. A resource has potential if it was already 

determined to have potential previously (City of Flagstaff Criterion A), if it is associated with significant 

past persons or events (City of Flagstaff Criterion B), if it represents an example of work from an 

important individual (City of Flagstaff Criterion C), it significantly embodies a distinctive characteristic 

or style of a type, period, region, or method of construction (City of Flagstaff Criterion D), or if it has 

yielded or will yield information important to scientific research (City of Flagstaff Criterion E). 

Evaluation of significance and integrity and application of the NRHP Criteria was conducted in 

accordance with the guidelines established by the U.S. Department of the Interior and National Park 

Service in U.S. Secretary of the Interior Standards and Guidelines for Archaeology and Historic 

Preservation (NPS 1983) and National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the National Register Criteria 

for Evaluation (NPS 2002). 

3.0 METHODOLOGY 

The Phase 1 HRS for 19 West Birch Avenue entailed archival research, fieldwork, evaluation, and report 

preparation by Cornerstone Principal Investigator Caitlin Stewart, Senior Project Manager Jack W. 

Treichler, Assistant Project Manager Samuel Hemsley, Archaeologist Samuel Mitchell, and 

Archaeologist Jordan Lee. Cornerstone conducted research by searching digital and physical historical 

records and visiting the subject property.  



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
9 

Archival and secondary research was conducted with the goal of establishing a building construction 

timeline and site history, and to identify significant events that may have occurred on the property. 

Research methods were based on the National Park Service guidance outlined in National Register 

Bulletin 39: Researching a Historic Property (NPS 1998). A variety of topics were thoroughly researched 

to identify significant events that may have occurred at the property. Topics that produced a null result 

were not included in the report but are mentioned here as they were checked. Several hurdles were 

encountered during the research limiting the results. The most notable is that in 1970, a clogged sewer 

caused flooding in the basement of 19 West Birch Avenue, destroying most of the stored city records that 

were in the basement. These records likely included architectural plans for the building, Municipal Court 

records, arrest and bond records, personnel files, police reports, receipts, and more. These records were 

unfortunately lost and therefore could not be accessed by Cornerstone (Figure 6). Further, Cornerstone 

was informed that Municipal Court records were not kept extending back to the period of significance. To 

supplement the loss of these records, other sources, listed below, were extensively searched to provide 

clues to the building’s construction timeline, history, and to identify significant events that occurred in the 

building, particularly newspaper articles which largely focus on events and 

timelines that were important to residents of Flagstaff during the period of 

significance. 

The following list details the types of documents and sources that were 

consulted during the course of this study: 

- Northern Arizona University (NAU) Cline Library’s Special Collections 
and Archives, and Colorado Plateau Archives 
- Flagstaff Public Library archives 
- The Arizona Memory Project collection; 
- Public records from the City of Flagstaff 
- Aerial photographs (1959 to the present) 
- City of Flagstaff/Coconino County plat maps (1878, 1889, 1909, 
1919/1925, and 1939) 
- Coconino County Recorder’s Office and Assessor’s Office deed, tax 
assessment, and property records 
- Existing cultural/historical resource studies and historic contexts 
- Flagstaff City Directories (1929–1989 [some years missing from record]) 
- Flagstaff Telephone Directories (1930–1989 [some years missing from 
record]) 
- Historical topographic maps 
- Sanborn Fire Insurance Co. maps (1901, 1910, 1916, 1943, 1948, and 
1956) 

Figure 6. Article describing 
the damage to City Hall and 
clean-up efforts after a flood 
in the basement of 19 West 
Birch Avenue. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
10 

- Arizona Advisory Committee to the U. S. Commission on Civil Rights 1977 report 
- Newspaper archives including: 

o Arizona Daily Sun 
o The Coconino Sun 

Fieldwork was conducted on February 20, 2025, by Jack Treichler, Samuel Hemsley, and Samuel 

Mitchell. The subject parcel was visited to identify and document potential historical resources. Digital 

photographs were taken to document the building. 

4.0 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The story of Flagstaff is a story shared by many railroad towns throughout the United States. Encouraged 

by large federal land grants which granted vast swaths of acreage to railroad companies, the companies 

established vital arteries connecting the eastern and western coasts of the United States together. To help 

finance the continued construction and expansion of the railroads, the companies would subdivide and 

sell the land granted to them by the government to interested settlers (Paradis 2003). In this manner the 

Federal Government was able to solidify control over the western United States and simplify logistics, the 

railroad companies were able to both acquire the land needed for expansion and fund said expansion, and 

settlers were given easy access and ample opportunity to purchase or acquire land. Because of the 

importance of the railroad as the means of access to these newly exploitable areas, the railroad would 

understandably play a key role in community development (Paradis 2003). 

Flagstaff’s Railroad Addition Historic District has its origins in the New Town that was established in 

1882 because of the Atlantic and Pacific Railroad (later known as the Santa Fe Railroad) not being able to 

reach the location of Old Town, which was set up along Antelope Spring, due to a steep grade. As a 

result, New Town was set up along a newly constructed sandstone depot where the train could stop, 

approximately a half a mile east of Old Town. Street grids were planned and laid out and New Town 

began to grow as people relocated to take advantage of the economic opportunities that proximity to the 

depot would bring (Paradis 2003). The two towns would continue to grow for the next few years, with 

settlers coming from as far away as New York and Kansas, until Old Town experienced a severe fire in 

1884. As a result of the fire damage, recovery efforts, and people relocating to the other town site, New 

Town swiftly began to outpace Old Town in growth, and Old Town was no longer seen as the “true” 

Flagstaff townsite (Cline 1976; Janus 1979; Paradis 2003). 

 

In a turn of fate, New Town itself was impacted by fires in 1886 and 1888. As a result of the fires, new 

construction was required to use brick or stone to help minimize the impact of further fires, and water 

infrastructure was put into place to help fight any fires that may arise (Janus 1979; Paradis 2003). The 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
11 

fires and the growth associated with them also opened new opportunities for immigrants into the town, as 

the Babbitt brothers first arrived in 1886 shortly after the fires were quelled (Cline 1976). The town 

continued to grow, with buildings spreading out from the railroad depot. The Post Office from Old Town 

relocated to New Town, and the Bank of Flagstaff was organized and established in 1887 by Thomas 

McMillan (Janus 1979). As all new constructions now utilized more permanent, fireproof materials, the 

structural nature of the town structures shifted from wood and canvas to brick and stone.  

 

In 1888, David Babbitt, then owner of a lumber yard and hardware business located on the corner of San 

Francisco and Aspen, began to buy out nearby merchants, such as P.J. Brannen. David partnered with his 

brother George Babbitt and formed the Babbitt Brothers Trading Company. Soon after, their brothers 

William, Charles, and Edward arrived to help expand and manage the swiftly growing company, which 

quickly became the leading merchant in the area through profits from cattle, trading posts, and real estate 

in Flagstaff and the surrounding areas (Cline 1976). The company office was a two-story brick and 

sandstone building which replaced the hardware store and was expanded over the years as the company 

grew (Janus 1979). The company building would become and remain a Flagstaff landmark, even after the 

company closure in 1987 (Paradise 2003). 

 

In 1891, Governor John Irwin announced the formation of Coconino County, which was split from part of 

the existing Yavapai County. Flagstaff was chosen as the county seat for the new county and the town 

was fully incorporated in 1894, with Flagstaff’s first City Hall and courthouse being erected shortly 

thereafter. By 1890 Flagstaff had developed a fire department, fully realized water infrastructure, and 

telephone and electrical power services (Cline 1976; Janus 1979). 

 

Other industries and factors began to influence Flagstaff’s economic development in the 1890s. A red 

sandstone quarry located to the east of town began to operate fully and was fulfilling material contracts 

for large cities such as Chicago and Los Angeles. In 1894, Percival Lowell located his observatory onto 

the mesa located to the west of the town center, which is now known as Mars Hill. Lowell’s scientific  

observations contributed to putting Flagstaff on the map, though this was through scientific endeavor 

rather than economic growth. 

 

Tourism also began to play an important role in Flagstaff’s economic development by 1895, when a stage 

line ran between Flagstaff and the Grand Canyon three times a week, and the influx of summer tourists 

seeking to escape the heat caused serious housing shortages in the town during the summer months. In 

1899 the Flagstaff Normal School (now known as Northern Arizona University) opened its doors, and 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
12 

this along with several private and public schools in the town provided centers of education (Cline 1976; 

Janus 1979). 

 

Flagstaff continued to steadily grow into the 1920s, with the Babbitts expanding their business portfolio 

and real estate, establishing a brick warehouse and three-story garage in 1915, and with competitors 

springing up such as Fred Hensing and Sam Finely who opened commercial ventures in large, 

commercial buildings in 1912 and 1915 respectively. These new constructions further changed the 

character of downtown, with Sam Finely’s commercial building being the first three story tall building in 

the entire county, while also introducing a wave of new architectural styles into the area, such as Tudor 

and Greek Revival (Janus 1979; Paradis 2003). 

 

This growth was swiftly followed by a slump, as Flagstaff was affected by the prohibition-era economic 

slump which impacted the rest of the country, and many buildings became abandoned or began to fall 

apart. To help combat this slump, the townsfolks constructed a new train depot at Leroux Street and 

established the Hotel Monte Vista in 1928. The increasing importance of the automobile was also of great 

benefit to Flagstaff, as Santa Fe Avenue would become part of the Old Trails National Highway system 

and later become Route 66, a vital artery bringing thousands to and through Flagstaff (Janus 1976). 

 

However, the increasing use of automobiles also meant that the train depot locations were no longer vital 

nodes for commerce and tourists, and because of this change development soon stopped within what is 

now the Flagstaff Railroad Addition Historic District and focused instead along the corridor of Route 66, 

which was becoming increasingly accessible (Janus 1979). 

 

Along with the rest of the state, Flagstaff experienced a growth spurt after World War II, approximately 

doubling in size. Route 66 was used intensively to transport troops and materials during World War II, 

and following the war, the all-weather road became popular for "open road adventure" as it became more 

accessible for travel and recreation (Kirvan and Rogge 2006). Sawmill production increased in the 1950s 

and the railroad built a marshalling yard in 1957 on the east side to ship materials to the Glen Canyon 

Dam construction site at Page. The population of the “City in the Pines” increased 138% in the 1950s, 

helped by the annexation of 48 square miles in 1957–1959. It had become a college town with increasing 

enrollment at what had been Arizona State College. In 1966, the college became Northern Arizona 

University. Through the 1960s and 1970s, Flagstaff struggled to attract higher paying jobs as the timber 

industry collapsed. Nor could it accommodate the increased automobile traffic that came with growth. In 

the 1980s it had a makeover, closing the old cowboy saloons and creating upscale neighborhoods and 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
13 

trendy art galleries, boutiques and bistros downtown. Tourism and the hospitality industry eventually 

made more money for the community than manufacturing forest products (Lucas 2010). As Flagstaff 

grew after World War II, the need became apparent for reasons discussed below for the expansion of city 

offices and facilities, including City Hall, the Police Department, and Fire Department. 

4.1 FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL 

The Flagstaff City Council is the legislative and executive body of the City of Flagstaff. In the late 1890s 

and early 1900s, the City Council of Flagstaff was often limited to one to three individuals, and the office 

of Vice Mayor was yet to be established. This smaller size was likely a result of the smaller size of 

Flagstaff historically, and as the city grew the council grew to meet the increased demands and 

complexity. Other key players in the civic structure of the town in this early period were the Town 

Marshal, also elected during the town elections, and the Town Clerk. 

Interest in developing an updated city charter for Flagstaff arose after Winslow, Arizona, updated their 

own city charter to better accommodate the city’s growing needs. In May of 1958, Flagstaff, also a 

rapidly growing city, put together a commission to research the possibility of updating their city charter. 

The commission was headed by Senator Rober W. Procnow and consisted of a 14-person board of 

freeholders with some input by the Flagstaff City Council, which was operating at 19 West Birch at this 

time. Several important topics were discussed, such as term length, the roles and responsibilities of the 

elected officials, and the best methods to ensure voter representation (Arizona Daily Sun 1958a). 

The modern City Council size varies, but generally consists of one mayor, one vice mayor, and three to 

seven council members, all elected. The elected council has the authority to appoint a City Manager, who 

is charged with enacting the policies legislated by the council. The mayor and vice mayor are recognized 

as political heads of the city but are ultimately members of the legislative body and do not hold veto 

power. The council is responsible for setting policy, approving city budgets, and determining the city tax 

rates while the City Manager also oversees Sustainability, Public Affairs, Water Services, Engineering 

and Capital Projects, and Community Development divisions within the City of Flagstaff and reports 

directly to the City Council (City of Flagstaff 2025). This method of governing, known as a council-

manager form of city government, was established in Flagstaff in 1958 when the city was rechartered; 

prior to this Flagstaff was governed by the mayor-council system (Arizona Daily Sun 1958b).  

Regardless of the time period, the City Council was charged with the day-to-day running of the city, 

drafting policy, and crafting long-term plans for the city. Mayors often made proclamations stating that an 

upcoming week of the month would be dedicated to a specific cause such as cleaning up the town or 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
14 

creating an employment drive to help employ the physically disabled (Arizona Daily Sun 1951). Other 

than acting as a notice and increasing the attention brought to a subject, these proclamations carried very 

little weight. 

Newspaper articles show a constant stream of notices of new taxes, elections, and public hearings which 

carry on to, through, and past the period of significance for the studied building. Some consequential 

legislation that came into effect during the building’s period of significance was the establishment of the 

first city ordinances which set Flagstaff down the path to become a Dark Sky city. The city ordinance, the 

Anti-Searchlight Bill, which was passed in 1958, stipulated that the commercial use of searchlights, often 

used for advertising or other commercial promotions, was banned within the city limits (Arizona Daily 

Sun 1958). In 1973, Flagstaff would implement further city ordinances which directed streetlamps and 

some commercial signage to direct the light downwards and minimize light scatter, further minimizing 

light pollution in the night sky (Arizona Daily Sun 1973). Occasionally disgruntled community members 

would attend meetings to protest zoning and budget proposals brough forth for various city plans 

(Arizona Daily Sun 1971a).  

During the building’s time as a civic building there were 11 Mayors: 

• 1948 – 1952 Henry L. Hutchison 

• 1952 – 1954 Kenneth Switzer 

• 1954 – 1956 Edward T. Kerley 

• 1956 – 1958 Peter J. Lindemann 

• 1958 – 1960 Charles J. Saunders 

• 1960 – 1968 Rollin W. Wheeler 

• 1968 – 1974 Sylvan L. Harenburg 

• 1974 – 1975 William S. Erwin 

• 1975 – 1976 Dale Nations 

• 1976 – 1980 Robert Moody 

• 1980 – 1984 Paul Babbit Jr. 

The mayor position comes with a two-year term of office, but past mayors were sometimes reelected to 

serve additional terms, as occurred with Rollin W. Wheeler, Sylvan L. Harenburg, Robert Moody, and 

Paul Babbit Jr., for instance.  



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
15 

Mayor Rollin W. Wheeler was a particularly notable individual, serving four sequential mayoral terms. 

Mayor Wheeler is the longest serving mayor in the history of Flagstaff and the first Charter Mayor to be 

elected after the establishment of a new City Charter in 1958, during the tenure of Mayor Saunders. Prior 

to Mayor Wheeler’s election as mayor, he was employed as a high school teacher, coach, and counselor, a 

position he retained during his civic employment, as well as a City of Flagstaff council member between 

1952 and 1960. 

As the first mayor under the new charter, Mayor Wheeler was instrumental in shaping the role and 

establishing precedent for future mayors to follow. Under the new charter the mayor only had a vote in 

case of ties, however Mayor Wheeler would often let his preference and reasoning for a specific measure 

be known, even when he was unable to provide a vote for the matter. Mayor Wheeler spent much of his 

time in City Hall, working around the clock and was always available during times of crisis and urgency 

providing necessary leadership and direction. During his term Mayor Wheeler often focused on parks 

development and recreational programs, an interest that would be ultimately rewarded with the renaming 

of the Civic Plaza Park to Wheeler Park in 1984 (Arizona Daily Sun 1984). 

4.2 FLAGSTAFF MUNICIPAL COURT 

During the 1950s through 1980s, the building at 19 West Birch Avenue housed the Flagstaff Municipal 

Court. In Arizona, Municipal Courts, also known as Magistrate Courts and City Courts, have limited 

jurisdiction and handle minor offenses and violations within city limits, small claims, landlord-tenant 

disputes, and preliminary hearings for more serious crimes. Superior Courts have broader jurisdictions, 

handling felony trials, appeals, and can hear cases from across the state. The Superior Court, first 

constructed in the 1890s, is located on 200 North San Francisco Street, and is still in use today as the 

Coconino County Superior Court. The municipal courtrooms in 19 West Birch were located on the 

second floor of the building. Chief City Magistrate William C. Brady, City Magistrates Ramon Otero Jr, 

Associate Magistrate A. R. Brown, and Court Administrator Robert Wininger were some of the 

prominent judges presiding over the Flagstaff Municipal Court at 19 West Birch Avenue. In the early 

1970s, the courtroom underwent remodeling. Improvements during this remodel, designed by architect 

Clee Edgar, include the addition of microphones, seating for the public, and seating for the council 

members, attorneys, city manager, clerk, and treasurer (Figure 7). The court was reported to still lack jury 

rooms, meaning that the entire courtroom needed to be cleared for jury deliberations. As Flagstaff 

continued to expand, this was no longer suitable. The Municipal Court was eventually moved to 211 West 

Aspen Avenue in 1985 which offered additional offices, storage spaces, jury rooms, and several divisions 

of courtrooms for the city to operate out of (Arizona Daily Sun 1985).  



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
16 

 

4.3 FLAGSTAFF POLICE DEPARTMENT 

During the 1950s through 1970s, the building at 19 West Birch Avenue housed both the City of Flagstaff 

Police and Fire Departments in dedicated wings of the building. At the time, Flagstaff was small enough 

that all three organizations (the City Hall, Police Department, and Fire Department) were small enough to 

be operated out of the same building and did not require separate facilities. Prior to moving into the 19 

West Birch Avenue building, all three organizations were also based in the prior City Hall building which 

was located a block south on 16 North Leroux Street. One of the main motivators for the construction of 

the 19 West Birch City Hall was the poor conditions and unacceptable subsequent treatment of the 

accused housed in the previous Police Department and likely court system. Additionally, the Police 

Department has had the longest usage of the building as they remained in the building until 2000, after the 

new City Hall was constructed in 1980. 

Figure 7. Remodeling plans for the Magistrate Court room at 
City Hall (Arizona Daily Sun 1971). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
17 

The City of Flagstaff Police Department and Jail were housed in the building at 19 West Birch Avenue 

from 1951 until 2000, when it moved to new facilities on Sawmill Road. The jail at 19 West Birch was 

considered the City Jail, differentiated from the larger County Jail located on the same lot as the Coconino 

Superior Court. The city jail was the first facility officially completed at the 19 West Birch Avenue 

building, finishing in April of 1951, and began operating before the City Hall component of the building 

itself was completed and opened (Arizona Daily Sun 1951a). The City Jail would serve as temporary 

housing for arrestees as they awaited transfer to the Coconino County Jail, or as they awaited trial in the 

Flagstaff Municipal Court for petty crimes, low-level misdemeanors, and vehicular violations was also 

located at 19 West Birch Avenue. Upon its construction in 1951, the City Jail had space for a total of 47 

prisoners in bunks and 10 to 20 more in a “tank”, or a holding cell with no beds. The general cell block 

was stated to have 16 bunks, and a chain gang dormitory with 18 bunks. There were also two cells 

constructed for male juveniles, two cells for females, and eight cells for adult female prisoners. 

Additionally, one padded cell with space for one prisoner was included (Arizona Daily Sun 1951b).  

By 1952 the Flagstaff Police Department consisted of nine full time police officers with three squad cars, 

a relatively small but well-equipped force with up-to-date equipment including radio receivers (Shock 

Figure 8. Police Captain Elmo Maxwell, left, presents Police Chief William Epperson, 
right, with a watch (Arizona Daily Sun 1960). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
18 

1952). Two Police Department Chiefs were employed during the building’s period of significance. 

William Epperson, who served between 1945 and 1963, and Elmo Maxwell, who took over from 

Epperson in 1963 and acted as the Police Chief until 1980 (White 2023; Figure 8). In 1963, the original 

architect of the building, Robert Blakey, was commissioned by the city to expand the jail facilities and 

offices, to incorporate a dark room, and to update the existing plumbing and electrical systems (Arizona 

Daily Sun 1963; Blakey 1963). During these renovations, the exterior of the building was altered 

including the replacement of all windows, some of the roof, and replacing sections of the Malpais basalt 

façade that were deteriorating (Blakey 1963). 

4.4. FLAGSTAFF FIRE DEPARTMENT 

The Flagstaff Fire Department operated out of the southern wing of the 19 West Birch Avenue building, 

which operated as the Fire Department headquarters, and by 1952 consisted of three full-time employees 

and 13 volunteers, with equipment consisting of a 750 gallon per minute (gpm) pumper truck, a 500 gpm 

Figure 9. A Flagstaff Fire Department firetruck pulling out of the 19 West Birch Avenue 
garage (Alexander 2017). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
19 

pumper truck and two hose trailers with 500 ft of 

hose each (Figure 9). A fire horn, part of the 

original building at 19 West Birch Avenue, was 

mounted from 1951 through 1977 in a tower or 

cupula atop the roof. The fire horn would 

summon volunteer firemen to the scene of a blaze 

and alert residents to the location of a fire by 

sounding off a series of codes. The horn also 

sounded off every day at noon, making it a 

recognizable landmark to the people of Flagstaff 

for the 20 years that it was in use. Not everyone 

appreciated the shrill sound of the fire horn, 

however, and it is described in a 1977 article 

regarding its decommissioning: “We regret the 

passing of some of the old features of our town, 

but that fire department air horn, that gargantuan 

dying calf, is not among them!” (Arizona Daily 

Sun 1977; Figure 10). A second fire station, Fire 

Station No. 2, was constructed in the Sunnyside 

neighborhood in 1945 and serviced the eastern 

side of the city (Arizona Daily Sun 2010). By 

1959 the Fire Department had expanded along 

with the city, and 23 paid employees and 17 

volunteers were employed by the department, but 

employees worked at both this station and the east 

side station. Increased population and growth 

meant increased risk of fire, and the department 

responded to 177 calls in 1959. By 1964 the 

department had been unionized, and by 1965 

increased demand necessitated a 56-hour work 

week for the majority of the employees. The 

training process for new employees became more 

formulized, and new fire fighters were required to attend a two-week fire academy. By 1970, yearly calls 

to the Fire Department exceeded 500, and the City Council noted that the current Fire Department 

Figure 10. Newspaper article describing the enthusiastic 
removal of the fire horn from 19 West Birch (Arizona 
Daily Sun 1977). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
20 

infrastructure was inadequate for the rising demand and plans for a third fire station were drawn up. 

Through 1975 demand remained roughly the same, and other than fluctuation between the 40-hour work 

week and 56-hour work week the department would remain the same (Arizona Daily Sun 2010). The Fire 

Department would operate as one of Flagstaff’s fire departments out of 19 West Birch Avenue until 

February of 1980, when the station was closed, and a new station was constructed on the east side of 

Flagstaff replacing the older one constructed in 1945 (Velotta 1980). 

4.5 OTHER FACILITIES AND CITY OFFICES 

19 West Birch Avenue also held offices for other city facilities and officials, including offices for the 

water department, the city engineer, and the city clerk. Residents of Flagstaff could pay their water bills in 

the building; participate in local and general elections as it was a designated polling location; and attend 

planning and zoning meetings, City Council meetings, and other public hearings to voice their opinions 

on proposals set forth for the city (Arizona Daily Sun 1977a; Arizona Daily Sun 1952; Mountain States 

Telephone and Telegraph Co. 1956). Other important city offices, such as the Flagstaff Chamber of 

Commerce, were at other locations. 

4.6 SOCIAL HISTORY 

The social history and movements during the building’s period of significance were a complicated time in 

American History with the emergence of groups associated with civil rights, anti-war protests, Vietnam 

War protests, the feminism movement, and the environmental movement as a small sample. The 

building’s associated contribution or association with many of these movements was seemingly limited 

based on newspaper articles, oral histories, and the remaining civic records. This is not to say that these 

events were not occurring in Flagstaff or that these movements were not impacting the local population 

but rather that other locations such as the Northern Arizona University campus and the County 

Courthouse were more common locations for the expression. A long-time previous Flagstaff Chief of 

Police, Pat Madden described that during the Vietnam War, occasional demonstrators were seen walking 

by the building, but the larger demonstrations were being held elsewhere in town. Specifically, he 

remembered a large protest on San Franciso Street that had to be broken up (Pat Madden, personal 

communication, June 30, 2025).  

One social movement that the residents of 19 West Birch were active participants in was the Native 

American Civil Rights Movement. Flagstaff has a long and well-documented history of discrimination 

against its Native American citizens and neighbors. This history is both a reflection of a larger nationwide 

historical context but also the result of Flagstaff being a “bordertown” to the Navajo Nation Reservation. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
21 

Practices occurring in Flagstaff during the period of significance include systemic discrimination, 

homelessness, predatory legal practices, redlining, stigma, exploitation, and racism.  

One of the larger events that occurred in Flagstaff relating to the Native Americans Civil Rights 

Movement was the protest, arrest, and subsequent investigations following a protest at the 1972 All-

Indian Pow Wow (Figure 11). The All-Indian Pow Wow was devised by a group of Anglo-American 

businessmen in 1929 with financial interests in the draw of the event. The event was initially put on by 

the City of Flagstaff Chamber of Commerce but went under private management around 1934 and 

eventually back into the hands of the city in the early 1970s. The event included Native Americans 

putting on traditional dances, rodeos, and selling arts and crafts. Native American tribes came from across 

the Southwest to participate and were primarily housed by camping at the City Park (now Thorpe Park). 

The event was traditionally put on around the Fourth of July and drew large crowds with upwards of 

10,000 visitors (Cline n.d.). To put the economic impact into perspective the average attendance at the 

current Flagstaff Fourt of July celebration averages 10,000 visitors in 2025, with a local population much 

larger than that of the one in 1972. The event was touted as a means of acknowledging Native customs of 

ceremony, song, and dance but “in reality, local service organizations and the business community 

leveraged Native culture for profit” (Arizona Historical Society 2020).  

Figure 11. Article describing a protest by the American Indian Movement in 
Flagstaff, ending with the arrest of protesters by the Flagstaff Police 
Department (Arizona Daily Sun 1972). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
22 

While many people remember the event fondly, the experience was anything but universal. An interview 

with Catherine Talakte about the Pow Wow initially describes the event as one that while exciting and 

full of family and reunions it was also tainted by a consistent hum of discrimination and mistreatment. 

Talakte discuss Natives being beaten and hauled off by the Flagstaff City Police: “even at the time I 

didn’t think that was right- as a kid” (Talakte 2012). She specifically recalls an event where the grave of a 

Native American child was found buried behind the City Park during the Powwow. Talakte mentions that 

she did not think it was ever solved but that she knew it was there. Oddly, hundreds of newspaper articles 

were reviewed, and no mention of the child’s death or investigation were reported. 

While many of these actions were expected by participants, things took a dramatic shift during the 1972 

event when members of the American Indian Movement (AIM) protested the event. It was reported that 

seven members of the AIM movement grabbed the microphone and tried to stop the dancing, but they 

were arrested and charged with rioting and inciting a riot, although no riot was reported to have occurred 

(Figure 12). The individuals arrested included Vernon Bellecourt, Patrick Easchief, Eduardo Molina, Rick 

Two Elk, Robert Burnette, Andrew Kelly, and Leroy Keams. The individuals were arrested by the 

Flagstaff Police Department and were likely held at 19 West Birch for a day or two until they were moved 

to the larger Coconino County Jail, as was the practice at the time. The individuals were initially held at 

$20,000 bail each, a palpably exaggerated sum for the crimes, especially considering all the felony 

charges were lowered to three misdemeanor charges which held a 30-day sentence for each of the 

arrested.  

Figure 12. Newspaper article describing bail for the AIM protestors. Tucson Citizen July 5, 1972. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
23 

Following the release of the seven individuals, AIM started small protests in other towns in Arizona and 

gave testimony of their mistreatment by the City of Flagstaff to agencies in Phoenix calling for 

investigations. This prompted several investigations into the treatment of Native Americans by the City of 

Flagstaff, and more specifically the Flagstaff Police Department and Municipal Courts.  

In 1972, the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights held public hearing in Albuquerque, New Mexico and 

Phoenix, Arizona. A report summarizing these testimonies indicated that little testimony was given at the 

Phoenix hearings regarding police brutality, with the exception of the 1972 AIM protest in Flagstaff 

where “protesters were reportedly subjected to excessive bail ($25,000 apiece), racial slurs, and police 

brutality” (U.S. Commission on Civil Rights 1973:40).  

This Commission report and the actions against the AIM protestors instigated an investigation of the 

Flagstaff Municipal Court and Flagstaff Police Department in 1975. While other towns were investigated, 

the report was aimed at Flagstaff in the end as the committee felt “the city best illustrated the problems 

the confront American Indians from arrest through sentencing” (Arizona Advisory Committee 1977:iii). 

The initial investigation was met with challenges as the commission found very few Native Americans 

were willing to come forward to discuss their interactions with police officers or officers of the court 

either because they did not want to resurrect a bad memory or feared reprisals from law enforcement 

(Arizona Advisory Commission 1977:9). However, several documented cases of predatory practices, 

brutality, racism, and discrimination were presented.  

One incident included John Thompson, Sr. a Native American who was pulled over for driving on the 

wrong side of the road and the Flagstaff Police Officer demanded $12 with no citation being presented. 

When Mr. Thompson stated he only had $7, he was told that if he didn’t produce $12 in five minutes he 

would be taken to jail. Mr. Thompson’s wife who was with him found a friend to write a check for $5, but 

the police officer would not accept the check and arrested Mr. Thompson, then stated he was intoxicated, 

and brought him to jail. Due to the arrest and incarceration on a minor traffic offense, Mr. Thomspon 

sought out legal counsel. His counsel, Mr. Gibson wrote the Chief of Police, discussing how steps were 

missed in the arrest process but also expressed discomfort with the intoxication allegation that only 

appeared after Mr. Thompson could not produce the full $12. This was a damaging claim against Mr. 

Thomspon who had been the minister of a church for 28 years. Chief Maxwell responded in summary 

with: "It is regretful that Mr. Thompson feels he was abused both verbally and physically, however this 

was not the intention of the officer. Also, there are always two sides to every story." When asked about 

this incident by the Arizona Advisory Committee, Chief Maxwell stated “if they had a complaint they 

should go to court” (Arizona Advisory Commission 1977:10), which Mr. Thompson did in 1975. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
24 

The court case, Henry Lee Begay, John Thompson, and 

Phillip Begay vs. City of Flagstaff, Flagstaff Police 

Department, Elmo Maxwell as Flagstaff Police Chief, and 

J. Mott an officer of the Flagstaff Police Department, was 

filed in Federal Court in 1975 but dismissed in 1977 on 

the condition that several regular practices of the Flagstaff 

Police Department cease and desist within sixty days. 

Those practices that were found to be occurring and 

ordered to stop included (Figure 13): 

• Requiring individuals who are cited for minor 

traffic offenses within the City of Flagstff to post bond 

“at the time of citation” 

• Arresting, finger-printing, photographing, 

booking, and incarcerating pre-trial individuals for 

offenses that are not punishable by incarceration 

• Requiring residents of Reservations to post bond 

without being eligible for pre-trial release solely because 

of their status as Native Americans 

• Not accepting the same tender (e.g. checks) from 

Native Americans for bond 

Another civil rights violation found during the Arizona 

Advisory Commission’s investigation was that of 

Norman Jensen, a Navajo who was attending a summer 

school at Northern Arizona University. During the 

predawn hours of 1975, and NAU security officer broke 

into Jensen’s room without a warrant and arrested him on 

rape without providing any Miranda rights. He was not 

allowed to clothe himself and was taken to the Flagstaff 

Community Hospital and then the Coconino County Jail, 

although his arrest was conducted by the Flagstaff Police 

Department. That evening after protesting his treatment, 

he was informed verbally by the Flagstaff Police 

Department that he must sign a waiver releasing the 

Figure 13. Newspaper article stating the result of 
suit against City of Flagstaff and Flagstaff Police 
Department for false arrests and unjust treatment 
of Native Americans (Arizona Daily Sun 1977). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
25 

Flagstaff Police Department of any liability for false arrest or they would not release him. He agreed and 

signed the waiver so that he could go home. The Flagstaff Police Department told Jensen at that time that 

his arrest was a mistake and would not appear in the newspaper. Regardless of these promises or the fact 

that his arrest was unlawful, it was reported and published in the Arizona Daily Sun on July 29, 1975, and 

was something that followed Jensen through his life despite having committed no crime. 

In addition to these specific cases, the investigation found that Native American arrests were excessive 

compared to their proportion of the population. Approximately, 40% of individuals arrested by the City of 

Flagstaff were Native American, although they only represented 5.1% of the population. The 

discrimination occurring at 19 West Birch were not limited to the Police Department but were also found 

to be prevalent in the Municipal Court system as well. Primary issues were continuations of illegal police 

practices, but other concerns noted by the investigation included: 

• None of the judges or magistrates were attorneys or had attended law school; only Judge 

Brady and Judge Garcia had any legal training and constituted one-week judicial 

conferences. 

• Over 93% of defendants in one of the observed courts plead guilty and were 

overwhelmingly Native American 

• En Masse arraignments with no interpreters for non-English speaking Native Americans 

• Lack of access to public counsel 

• Enforcement of illegal bonds 

• Disproportionate dismissal of Native Americans as jurors 

At the time that this report was released, a report by the northern chapter of ACLU on the 1976 Flagstaff 

Pow Wow was included as an appendix. This report included observations on what improvements had 

been made by the Flagstaff Municipal Court and Flagstaff Police Department regarding treatment of 

Native Americans. The report felt that the Municipal Court, specifically Judge Brady, had made serious 

efforts to address the concerns of the ACLU and Arizona Advisory Commission. The report did feel that 

Judge Brown was still refusing release without bond and less consistent in dismissing questionable 

charges. Additionally, translators were available for County arrests but still not those in the City. 

The ACLU report found vast improvements in the Sherrif’s Department and the booking process at 

County Jail. However, this praise did not extend entirely to the Flagstaff Police Department who appeared 

divided on enacting the requested civil rights changes. Excessive force was the first topic discussed, and 

examples were provided from the event. On July 2, 1976, the arrest of a Native American Harold Micahel 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
26 

Adams was observed by ACLU observers. During this arrest, Flagstaff city police officers surrounded the 

suspect, shoved him, pushed him, and shouted slurs at him. After the third incident Mr. Adams pointed a 

finger at a police officer to try to get them to stop and he was subsequently “knocked to the floor and 

physically abused for a length of time far beyond what would have been necessary to subdue even a 

violent prisoner,” (Arizona Advisory Commission 1977:B-2). The attack was violent and disturbing 

enough that another law enforcement official was heard saying “this has to stop.” 

The ACLU report also discusses observing discriminatory arrest practices such as Native Americans 

being arrested for drinking from open containers while standing next to white residents who were not 

arrested for the same action.  

5.0 SITE AND BUILDING HISTORY 

In 1886 the Atlantic and Pacific Railroad Company transferred a large swathe of land containing the 

subject property to M.E. Daggs, a member of a prominent sheepherder family in Flagstaff. In 1891, Lots 

16, 17 and 18 of Block 19 were under the ownership of John Daggs and Belle Daggs, who sold the 

property to W. Averill Daggs. The following years saw Lots 16, 17, and 18 change hands numerous times 

due to a variety of lawsuits, ultimately going to Hugh McCrum in 1898 as a result of a lawsuit between 

the Daggs family and himself over delinquent payments. McCrum would then sell the lots to J. W. 

Francis in 1899, who retained the lots until 1903 when they were sold to Hugh Campbell. Campbell 

retained the property until 1917, when it was sold to John C. Kelly. Kelly would keep ownership of the 

property until the lots were transferred to the First National Bank of Arizona. The other lots which pertain 

to the property, Lots 13, 14, and 15, were sold back and forth during the early 1890s, swapping hands 

from the Daggs, to the Riordan Merchant Company, to Henry Fulton in 1894, who also held property in 

the adjacent lots to the east of the studied building. The same year, Fulton would receive a tax certificate 

from the Territory of Arizona against the lots. Ownership after this juncture is unclear due to missing or 

incomplete records until the 1950s, when the City of Flagstaff acquired the lots prior to the construction 

of the studied building.  

The old City Hall building with associated wings/additions is currently the only building located in the 

study area (APN 100-10-004-A). Several different, older buildings were located in the parcel from at least 

1890 through 1948, according to Sanborn maps from 1890, 1892; 1895, 1901, 1910 1916, and 1948, as 

well as the 1919–1925 City of Flagstaff plat map (Figure 17; Figure 18; Figure 19; Figure 20; Figure 21; 

Figure 22; Figure 23). A large three-room stable building existed on the property from at least 1890 to at 

least 1916 before it was removed. Between 1890 and 1892 two small outbuildings, possibly sheds, are 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
27 

present on the east side of the parcel. In 1916 two cabins were present on the property, though they appear 

to have been demolished by 1948. The 1948 Sanborn map shows a two-room dry cleaning building as 

being present in the northwest corner of the property.  

The subject property was constructed between 1950 and 1951 to replace the old City Hall (Photograph 2), 

which was previously located at 16 North Leroux Street. Work began on July 17, 1950, after the contract 

for the construction was awarded to King-Hoover Construction of Phoenix, Arizona for $152,692.00 and 

the jail equipment was awarded to Decatur Iron and Steel Company of Decatur, Alabama for $25,447.00 

(Arizona Daily Sun 1950). However, no information on who specifically assisted in the creation of the 

stone façade was found in any of the historic research. 

A new City Hall was commissioned due to the poor conditions at the old City Hall and the need for more 

space as Flagstaff continued to grow starting as early as 1949. A poor rating of the unsanitary conditions 

at the Police Department were also cited contributing to the need for a new City Hall, and while the City 

supported the need for improved facilities it did state that the unsanitary conditions were not the fault of 

the department but blamed the Native Americans held there (Arizona Daily Sun 1949; Figure 14). The 

new City Hall was officially opened at the end of 1951. The old City Hall building was no longer in use 

by city officials by 1952, when private businesses moved into the building. The construction of the new 

City Hall was funded in part by a bond issue and the city’s postwar projects fund. The new City Hall is 

typically referenced with the address 120 North Beaver Street, since the building’s main entrance is on 

this street.  

Photograph 2. Photograph of the initial stages of construction of City Hall in 1951 
(Babbit 1950). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
28 

Newspaper articles discuss the construction of the City Hall 

building beginning in July of 1950, construction was 

completed in 1951, and the first City Hall meeting was held 

in December of that year (Arizona Daily Sun 1950; 1951). 

The building is visible in a 1956 Sanborn map in 

approximately its current form (Figure 24). The building is 

visible in a 1959 aerial photograph in approximately its 

current form, apart from some differing roof utilities and the 

installation of a canopy in the southeast corner of the 

building (Figure 25; Faure 1959). 

In 1982 a decision was made by the Flagstaff City Council 

to construct a new City Hall, located at 211 West Aspen 

Avenue (Arizona Daily Sun 1982). The decision was made 

because of outdated facilities at 19 West Birch, and the lack 

of space and accessibility to the disabled in the courtrooms. 

Additionally, many city officials’ offices were located 

throughout downtown Flagstaff, dispersed randomly in 

makeshift offices, making it difficult for city officials to 

commute and communicate as they were traveling between 

buildings and offices constantly. The new City Hall would 

consolidate city services into one building (Arizona Daily 

Sun 1982a; Figure 15). The new City Hall would also solve 

parking issues downtown, as city officials were parking on 

the streets, or in paid lots, and the new City Hall plans had a 

large employee parking lot, offering convenience to the 

employees, and more public parking spaces available 

downtown. The City Hall was completed in 1983, and the 

majority of city officials moved out of the 19 West Birch 

location. At the time of the new Citty Hall construction, the 

majority of government employees were working out of a 

makeshift, converted furniture store and other small 

buildings downtown. The 19 West Birch location was 

considered for private sale or to be levelled as a parking lot 
Figure 14. Newspaper article discussing the 
need for a new City Hall and the conditions of 
the Police Department (Arizona Daily Sun 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
29 

but ultimately it was determined 

that they would renovate the 

location for continued use by 

the Police Department and 

Municipal Court. The building 

underwent major renovations in 

1982, totaling over $250,000. 

These renovations included 

making the building accessible 

with the addition of wheelchair 

ramps and an elevator (the 

Americans with Disabilities Act 

[ADA] would be passed in 

1990), as well as updating 

heating systems, adding two 

court rooms, and removing the 

bay doors that housed fire engines 

(Arizona Daily Sun 1981; Arizona 

Daily Sun 1982; Arizona Daily Sun 

1985a; Figure 16). The Police 

Department and Jail would remain 

until 2000, when the department 

began to move to new facilities 

located on Sawmill Road. After the 

relocation of the Police Department, 

the building ceased to be a civic 

building and would be rented out to 

various commercial entities. 

 

Figure 16. Photo showing the finished renovation of the Police 
Department in 1982, when the department moved locations in the 
building from 19 West Birch and into what used to house the 
municipal offices at 120 North Beaver (Arizona Daily Sun 1985a). 

Figure 15. Newspaper article discussing the opening of new City Hall in 
1982 (Arizona Daily Sun 1982). 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
30 

 

Figure 17. 1890 Sanborn map showing a horse stable and two small outbuildings on the property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
31 

 

 
Figure 18. 1892 Sanborn map showing a horse stable and two small outbuildings on the property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
32 

 

Figure 19. 1895 Sanborn map showing a horse stable and one small outbuilding on the property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
33 

 

Figure 20. 1901 Sanborn map showing a horse stable, a one room structure, and a small outbuilding on the 
property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
34 

 

 
Figure 21. 1910 Sanborn map showing two horse stables and a small one room structure on the property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
35 

 

Figure 22. 1916 Sanborn map showing two horse stables, a single room structure, and a single room cabin on the 
property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
36 

 

 
Figure 23. 1948 Sanborn map showing a dry-cleaning building on the property. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
37 

 

 

Figure 24. 1956 Sanborn map of downtown Flagstaff showing the layout of the City Hall building at 19 
West Birch Avenue. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
38 

 

 
Figure 25. Historic aerial imagery from 1959 showing the project area and studied building. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
39 

6.0 ARCHITECTURE 

The studied building at 19 West Birch Avenue was designed by architect Robert Otway Blakey III, a 

Phoenix based architect. Blakey was born in Alabama and moved to Arizona in 1947 and began a career 

as a civil and commercial architect. Blakey was highly active in the 1950s, not only working on the 

Flagstaff City Hall building, but also the Verde Valley Branch of the Bank of Arizona building in 

Cottonwood, Arizona; a fire station building for the City of Prescott in 1956; and a community hospital 

located in Wickenburg, Arizona, also in 1956 (Arizona Builder and Contractor 1955;1956). Some of these 

buildings, such as the Verde Valley Building, are still standing. Blakey was working during the height of 

popularity of the International Style of architecture and his buildings, such as the Flagstaff City Hall and 

the Verde Valley Branch of the Bank of Arizona building, reflect this. 

International Style architecture has its origins in 1920s France and Germany where European architects 

broke from traditional ornamental styles to develop a functional, unornamented style with a strong 

emphasis on geometric shapes. The architectural style would continue developing in Europe for the next 

decade before making its first appearance in the United States in the 1930s. From there, the architectural 

style gained in popularity and quickly dominated new construction for the next several decades, before 

falling off in popularity in the 1970s. Diagnostic features of International Style consist of rectangular 

forms, flat roofs, general lack of ornamentation or decorative details, the presence of ribbon windows, 

curtain walls of glass, cantilevered projections, smooth wall surfaces, and an asymmetrical façade 

(Pennsylvania Historical & Museum Commission 2015). International Style often eschews decorative or 

non-functional design elements, focusing instead on the functional use and presentation of space, and 

often incorporates an interior-volume-focused design.  

Structures designed solely with International Style architecture are uncommon, but between the 1920s and 

1970s many civic and commercial buildings incorporated aspects of International Style architecture into 

building designs, and the studied structure is no exception. The building at 19 West Birch Avenue was 

constructed with—and still exhibits—an emphasis on geometric shapes, an interior-volume-focused 

design, relatively flat/planar wall surfaces, an asymmetrical layout, few ornamental flourishes, 

cantilevered projections, and some ribbon windows, all aspects of International Style design. However, 

the building also displays non-International Style design elements, such as the Malpais basalt façade, 

ornamental corrugated sheet metal components, and sloped prow-gabled roofs. The original structure also 

had a roof tower or cupula that housed the air horn for the Fire Department (Figure 26). Thus, while the 

building was designed using the standard stylistic design language at the time, it displays a more organic, 

Flagstaff vernacular form thanks to these flourishes. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
40 

 

Original architectural plans could not be found for this report, so it is unknown precisely if or how much 

the constructed building differed from Blakey’s original vision. A published rendering of the proposed 

structure from 1950, however, closely resembles the building visible today (Figure 27). The most notable 

difference is the presence of the roof tower or cupula that housed the fire horn and was removed in 1977 

(Arizona Daily Sun 1977). This rendering also only depicts two garage bays for the fire department, while 

three were ultimately constructed. The drawing does not depict Malpais façades, though it is unclear if 

this is an artistic choice or a reflection of previous design intentions. 

 

Figure 26. Photograph of the building during its period of significance, from 1961 City of Flagstaff telephone 
directory. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
41 

 

7.0 ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

The City Hall building as it exists today consists of one central section and two wings, with a partial 

second story and partial basement (Figure 28). The construction combines elements of the International 

Style architectural movement, seen with the use of ribbon windows and volumetric floor design, with 

elements of a more local, vernacular Flagstaff style, as evidenced by the Malpais basalt used in the 

building façades. A construction contractor confirmed the Malpais used here is an outer cladding and not 

structural (Jim O’Connell, personal communication June 12, 2025).  

The City Hall was housed in the central portion of the building, the Flagstaff Police Department was 

housed in the eastern wing, and the Flagstaff Fire Department was housed in the southern wing. Based off 

the County Assessor’s Office floorplan sketch, the City Hall portion of the building measures 46 feet (ft) 

by 91 ft, the Fire Department measures 56 ft by 54.5 ft at its maximum width and the Police Department 

portion measures 64 ft by 59.5 ft. A complete second story is present in the central portion of the building 

and approximately matches the dimensions of the first floor. The dimensions of the basement are 

approximately 29 ft by 25 ft and it is roughly L-shaped. 

Figure 27. Published rendering of the proposed building (Arizona Daily Sun 1950) 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
42 

The exterior of the central section of the building, which was formerly City Hall, consists of a Malpais 

basalt façade (Photograph 3). Twelve three-part float glass windows are present on the west-facing 

northern and southern sides of the elevation, with six windows on the first floor and six windows on the 

second floor. Three larger three-part float glass windows are present on the west facing portion of the 

second floor. A glass doored entryway, with a cantilevered canopy and two adjacent three-part float glass 

windows form the main entrance into the building on the west face. A set of three concrete steps and a 

ramp with metal pipe railings lead up to the entryway. The north facing elevation of the central section 

consists of dual Malpais basalt and corrugated sheet metal façade with 10 float glass windows, five on the 

first floor and a matching five on the second floor (Photograph 4). The southern facing elevation is 

adjoined to the Fire Department wing and is Malpais basalt. Malpais basalt planters are present at the base 

of the north, west, and south facing façade. A modern Malpais basalt signage structure is present on the 

Figure 28. Plan view sketch map from the County Assessor’s Office of the first floor of the studied 
building, with north oriented towards the top of the page. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
43 

property off the northwest corner of the building. The roof of the central portion is slightly slanted, 

forming an open gable roof with a slight prow to the north and south gables. 

The exterior of the southern section of the building, which formerly housed the fire department, consists 

of Malpais basalt façade which is present on all exterior sides of the section. The section has a slightly 

slanted shed style roof, which slopes down to the east. The western façade exhibits three float glass 

ribbon windows running horizontally north-south across the façade, just above a glass door entryway. 

Two three-part float glass windows are present on either side of the entry way, and the entire assemblage 

of ribbon windows, entrance, and float glass windows are framed by horizontal and vertical metal beams, 

which have been painted light brown. Two Malpais basalt planters, on each side of the entry way, are 

present (Photograph 5). The south facing façade contains a metal security door leading into the building, 

and three two-party wired safety glass windows spaced evenly along the façade (Photograph 6). The east 

facing façade has three two-part wired safety glass windows, and an inset doorway leading into the 

building.  

 

Photograph 3. West elevation of the studied building at 19 West Birch Avenue, the City Hall and 
Fire Department portions of the building are visible. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
44 

The exterior of the eastern portion of the building, which formerly housed the Police Department and jail, 

consists of a Malpais basalt façade with the east facing side featuring a façade of tan painted corrugated 

sheet metal underneath the eave of the roof. This section has a slightly gabled roof, sloping down to the 

north and south. The northern elevation exhibits a glass door entryway into the building, with a two-part 

float glass window to the right of the entrance. An east-west ribbon window is present along the 

easternmost side of the northern elevation. The east facing elevation consists of a metal door entryway, a 

pair of adjoined two-part float glass windows, and two separate two-part float glass windows (Photograph 

7). Modern parking signage is affixed to the Malpais basalt façade, and some electrical wiring fixtures are 

present along both the façade and corrugated sheet metal. The south-facing portion of this section has an 

extension of the gabled roof which forms an overhang which is supported by four metal beams with 

concrete footers (Photograph 8). A wooden entry door is present near the western extent of the elevation, 

with a series of concrete steps and metal railings leading to the entry way. To the west of the entryway is 

a wired safety glass window, and to the east is a set of three evenly spaced float glass windows. 

 

Photograph 4. North elevation of 19 West Birch Avenue, showing the north entryway into the 
building. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
45 

 

Photograph 5. East facing photograph showing the entryway to southern portion of the building 
which once housed the fire department. 

Photograph 6. South facing exterior of the former fire department, which exits into an alleyway. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
46 

The interior of each section or wing contained specialized infrastructure to match the needs of the 

respective department, with City Hall having offices and meeting chambers to conduct city business, the 

Fire Department having a garage with large bay doors for the fire trucks, with the Police Department 

having jail cells and evidence lockers. The small basement present within the building housed the city 

records vault. Significant architectural changes have occurred since the 1980s, when the building ceased 

to be a civil structure. The central portion of the building, where City Hall operated, has been remodeled 

and now houses various private commercial or private entities including an artist studio, a church, and an 

insurance office. Original floor plans or photographs of the central portion are unavailable, so it is 

unknown how much deviation from the original form the remodeling introduced. An elevator is present in 

the center of the area and connects to the second floor (Photograph 9). A series of desks and counters, 

likely modern, is present immediately upon entering the building through the west entrance. A series of 

birchwood and metal safety rails run parallel up the staircase. Two bathrooms, and a water fountain and 

present along the northern wall of the central section. A polished concrete staircase, likely the original 

staircase for the building, is present to the north of the entryway and desks and leads up to the second 

floor, which contains several offices and meeting rooms for commercial tenants.  

The southern wing which previously housed the Fire Department has undergone significant remodeling 

and is currently the office of an engineering firm. The garage bay doors and garage area have been 

removed or otherwise remodeled to an extent where no evidence of the existence of the garage area 

remains in either the exterior or interior of the building, apart from the framing of the garage bays 

(Photograph 10). All interior areas of this wing have been remodeled and modernized with modern office 

fixtures and furniture, and the wing no longer retains any elements which point to the wing’s previous life 

as Flagstaff’s Fire Department.  

The east wing, which once housed the Flagstaff Police Department, has also undergone a level of 

modification. The former jail cell area still remains, but the area has been renovated and is currently a 

metalsmithing studio. All assorted utilities, furnishing, or structural elements that would suggest that the 

wing once functioned as a police department and jail facility have been removed.  

The basement level is constructed from reinforced concrete and is roughly L-shaped. Two access 

stairways are present, one in the southern wing and the other on the far western side of the central wing. 

In the northeastern corner of the basement a Diebold Incorporated vault is present, consisting of a Diebold 

steel vault door and reinforced concrete room (Photograph 12). The vault was likely installed during the 

initial construction of the building and was used to house City Hall records and receipts. Utility line 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
47 

access corridors are present in the corners of the basement and likely run throughout the extent of the 

building footprint but were not fully explored due to light and safety concerns. 

The basement level has undergone interior modification as well. At some point after the construction of 

the basement a series of false wooden walls were erected in the northern part of the basement, roughly a 

foot away from the original reinforced concrete walls. These walls have the effect of separating the 

northern portion of the basement from the southern portion. The wooden wall appears to have been used 

for server and internet cable infrastructure and does not appear historic. An elevated floor has been added 

to the northern side of the basement, possibly to combat flooding, and this has raised the walkable surface 

by roughly a foot. The elevated floor has a cut out by the vault door to allow for the functional use of the 

door. Evidence of prior flooding in the form of water damage and rust is visible on the vault door in the 

basement. A circular hole present in one of the vault walls, which has since been boarded and grated over, 

suggests that at some point the vault was broken into. No newspaper articles for this event were found in 

the archives. Small portions of the basement ceiling are damaged and chipped, allowing for observation 

of the original rebar rods and conglomerate stones used in the construction of the reinforced concrete. 

The windows, doors, and ceiling light fixtures in all areas of the building appear to have been updated 

during the remodeling efforts, and a birch wood trim is present throughout the structure, possibly a 

decorative feature inspired by the street the building is located on (Photograph 13). A variety of window 

types are present in the building. Exterior windows, particularly on the facing west side of the building, 

are in ribbons, a common feature of International Style architecture. The exterior windows appear to have 

been replaced at some point and have modern fixtures and frames. Interior windows, such as those present 

in the office spaces of the building, are a mix of common float glass windows, and wired safety glass 

windows. While the wired safety glass windows would make sense in the context of a fire department and 

police facility, the windows are a common fire resistance safety installation and are present in areas that 

would have been heavily remodeled and are likely later additions to the structure. No exterior signage for 

the civic departments remains on the property.  

Doors appear to be modern steel frame doors (Photograph 14) likely placed or replaced during 

remodeling. The southwestern section of the building, where the Fire Department was once housed, has 

had modern glass doors installed in two sets along the west side of the building, forming a small vestibule 

before entering the building proper. Ceiling light fixtures commonly feature a white plastic case with a 

wooden “lace” matching the birch trim found  



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
48 

 

Photograph 7. East elevation of 19 West Birch Avenue, showing the east facade of the former 
police station. 

Photograph 8. South facing façade of the former fire department, showing the extension of the roof 
which forms a canopy. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
49 

 

Photograph 9. Elevator in the central area of the building connecting to the second floor. 

Photograph 10. The entryway and lobby of the engineering firm which occupies what would have 
once been the Fire Department garage, facing west through what was formerly a garage bay door. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
50 

  
Photograph 12. The basement vault room which was once used to hold city records and receipts. 

Photograph 11. A room in the former Police Department, which is now used as a metalsmith 
workshop, facing east. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
51 

 

Photograph 13. One of the former jail cells in the former Police Department. The decorative 
overhead light fixtures are a modern addition and have a birch wood trim. 

Photograph 14. South facing photograph showing the south entrance to the former Police 
Department. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
52 

throughout the building and are present in rooms, such as the jail cell, where they are out of place given 

the original purpose of the room. Wooden railings have been constructed around the stairwells and appear 

mismatched to the stairway itself. The railings were likely installed to be compliant with updated safety 

codes. 

Overall, remodeling efforts appear to have focused on an office “feel” to reflect the modern usage of the 

building. As a result of these remodeling efforts, the southern and eastern wings of the building no longer 

retain a feeling of being a fire department or police department and jail facility. The remodeling appears 

to have had a less significant impact on the central wing that once housed City Hall, though the lack of 

accurate records of the original internal layout of the central wing makes this determination difficult. The 

internal structure of the building could not be examined comprehensively, so the condition of the original 

structural materials or the possibility that some additional original features remain is currently unknown. 

Key external modifications include the removal the fire horn tower, filling in of the garage door bays, and 

modifications to the Malpais façade.  

8.0 EVALUATION OF SIGNIFICANCE AND INTEGRITY 

The subject property is within the Flagstaff Downtown Historic Overlay Zone. According to 

communications with the City of Flagstaff, this zone is an overlay used for planning and development 

though it has not been evaluated nor nominated for the NRHP. The property is immediately adjacent to 

the Railroad Addition Historic District. This district designates one of the oldest and most central areas of 

historic Flagstaff and partially overlaps with the Downtown Historic Overlay Zone.  

This report uses the Railroad Addition Historic District to provide historic context for the evaluation of 

significance and integrity (Janus 1979). The period of significance for the Flagstaff Railroad Addition 

Historic District is 1882–1975, beginning with the establishment of New Town in 1882, which would 

form the core of the district, and ending 50 years prior to this study in 1975. The City Hall building was 

constructed in 1951 and ceased to be used as City Hall in the 1980s. The possible areas of significance are 

Social History and Government (City of Flagstaff Criterion B; NRHP Criterion A), Significant Persons 

(City of Flagstaff Criterion C; NRHP Criterion B), and Architecture (City of Flagstaff Criterion D; NRHP 

Criterion C). The property is not eligible under City of Flagstaff Criterion A, as the property is not 

currently listed or eligible on the National Historic Landmark, NRHP or Arizona Register of Historic 

Places (ARHP). 

For a resource to be considered significant it must be at least 50 years old and meet at least one Criterion 

for Evaluation (City of Flagstaff Criteria A, B, C, D, or E; NRHP Criteria A, B, C, and D, respectively) 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
53 

by being associated with an important historical context and have been built and used within the 

appropriate period of significance for the identified theme (NPS 2002). The period of significance is the 

time period in which properties eligible for the National Register must be demonstrated to have been 

associated with the appropriate theme. The ARHP utilizes the same criteria and process for determining 

significance. For means of ease of communication, NRHP Criteria and City of Flagstaff Criteria will be 

used throughout this report. The NRHP Criteria for Evaluation (36 CFR § 60.4) are as follows:  

The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archaeology, engineering, 
and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects that possess 
integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association, 
and: 
A. That are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 

broad patterns of our history; or 
B. That are associated with the lives of significant persons in our past; or 
C. That embody distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, 

or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic values, or that 
represent a significant and distinguished entity whose components may lack 
individual distinction; or 

D. That have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 
history.  

The City of Flagstaff’s criteria for determining the significance of cultural/historical resources are similar 

to that of the NRHP but are not an exact replica. The criteria are defined in Flagstaff Zoning Code (30.30-

13) as the following: 

The criteria for determining the significance of a cultural resource are based on the 
potential of the cultural resource to contribute to our understanding of the past.  
1. A cultural resource is significant if:  

a. It is eligible as a National Historic Landmark, or for the National Register of 
Historic Places, or the Arizona Register of Historic Places; or  

b. It is associated with events or persons in the architectural, engineering, 
archeological, scientific, technological, economic, agricultural, educational, 
social, political, military, or cultural annals of the City, the State of Arizona, 
or the United States of America; or  

c. It represents the work of, or for, an important individual; or  
d. It embodies distinctive characteristics of type, period, region, artistic values 

or methods of construction, including being the oldest of its type or the best 
example of its type; or  

e. It has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information needed for scientific 
research, such as important archaeological resources.  

2. A resource is generally not significant if:  
a. It is less than 50 years old at the time of application; or  



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
54 

b. The features, materials, patterns, and relationships that contributed to its 
significance are no longer present or no longer have integrity.  

3. Requirement to Meet the Criteria, Regardless of Age: Properties that are 50 years 
old are not automatically significant. In order to be significant, all resources, 
regardless of age, must be demonstrated to meet the criteria for determining the 
significance of a cultural resource. 

As previously stated, the possible areas of significance are Social History and Government (City of 

Flagstaff Criterion B; NRHP Criterion A), Significant Persons (City of Flagstaff Criterion C; NRHP 

Criterion B), and Architecture (City of Flagstaff Criterion D; NRHP Criterion C). All the information 

potential of the site has been exhausted by site visits and archival research, and it is highly unlikely that 

the building itself can offer additional research potential, so it is not evaluated here under City of Flagstaff 

Criterion E (NRHP Criterion D). 

8.1 SOCIAL HISTORY AND GOVERNMENT 

For a property to be eligible under City of Flagstaff Criterion B or NRHP Criterion A, it must be 

associated with significant events in Flagstaff or national history. To understand the historic context of a 

property it is evaluated within its appropriate area(s) of significance. The former City Hall building is 

most associated with the areas of Social History and Government, although it also touches on areas such 

as Commerce, Law, and Community Planning and Development.  

The City Hall was the seat of local government—although not all city offices were based in it—and as 

such it is broadly associated with the development of civic government in the mid-20th Century. The 

building housed the Flagstaff City Council, and while all actions taken by the Council during their use of 

the building during its period of significance were impactful, examined individually, they do not 

constitute significant events in the wider development of Flagstaff. Legislation such as the Anti-

Searchlight bill, for instance, which would later go on to develop into the dark sky ordinances of modern 

Flagstaff, were just being developed during the building’s period of significance. Furthermore, these 

pieces of legislation are better represented by the affected properties themselves, such as Lowell 

Observatory, rather than the civic center that is the studied building.  

The subject property also housed the Flagstaff Police Department, Municipal Court, and city jail. The 

actions of these entities precipitated the first large scale investigation of unequal and predatory practices 

towards the Native American population of Flagstaff and Coconino County. The court case brought 

against the City of Flagstaff and the Flagstaff Police Department in 1975 led to a formal investigation by 

the ACLU in 1976 and while changes were not documented and rates of false arrests, excessive force, 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
55 

unequal application of bonds, and sentencing of jail time for offenses that do not require jail time 

continued, this was a pivotal event in Flagstaff history as a recognition of inequality amongst its citizens. 

While some of these court cases and investigations occurred after the period of significance of this study 

(1951–1975), they are a continuation of and response to events that occurred during the period of 

significance and so are included in this evaluation. While these local events were associated with AIM 

and a growing national awareness of Native American rights, research has not shown that events in 

Flagstaff were pivotal to the broader national movement, nor that the subject property itself is associated 

in strong ways with the national trend. AIM protest leaders, for example, were likely only held at the city 

jail briefly before being transferred to a county facility. 

Because of this association with significant local historical events related to Social History and 

Government, the property is recommended significant under City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP 

Criterion A. 

8.2 SIGNIFICANT PERSONS 

Research for this study included former Flagstaff mayors, members of City Council, Police and Fire 

Department chiefs, and other potential city staff. This included people of note such as mayor Rollin W. 

Wheeler, city manager Clarence T. Pulliam, and police chiefs William Epperson and Elmo Maxwell. 

None of the persons associated with the building during its period of significance were found to be 

significant enough to meet the requirements of the above criterion. Most civic individuals’ actions during 

this time consisted of essential day-to-day functions of the city. This is not to say that individuals working 

at the City Hall were not providing important contributions, but that they were being implemented in 

other locations and ways.  

Individuals housed at the city jail were either not significant enough or not associated with the property in 

substantial enough ways for it to qualify under this criterion. The individuals arrested during the 1972 

AIM protest included Vernon Bellecourt, Patrick Easchief, Eduardo Molina, Rick Two Elk, Robert 

Burnette, Andrew Kelly, and Leroy Keams. Several of these individuals went on to have impactful 

contributions to the Native American Rights Movement and while their experiences with 19 West Birch 

led to acknowledgment and eventual changes to discrimination and discriminatory practices in Flagstaff, 

their time at the property itself was limited to holding prior to transfer to the Coconino County Jail where 

they were held and eventually served out their 30 day sentences.  

Research found no influential works or events occurred on the property associated with any significant 

individuals. While it is undeniable that members of the city government were instrumental in the 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
56 

functioning of the city, and that noted individuals were briefly incarcerated in the building, archival 

records fail to demonstrate a significance large enough to warrant the building being significant under 

City of Flagstaff Criterion C or NRHP Criterion B.  

8.3 ARCHITECTURE 

To be significant under the area of Architecture (City of Flagstaff Criterion D; NRHP Criterion C) a 

building must embody distinctive characteristics or methods of construction of a particular style or 

represent the work of a master. As discussed above, the old City Hall is an example of International Style 

architecture, with the addition of some local Flagstaff stylistic choices, such as the addition of a Malpais 

basalt façade. Along with a degree of historic integrity, character-defining elements and architectural 

features that should be maintained for an International Style building include: rectangular forms, often 

with round projections; a flat roof; lack of ornamentation or decorative details; ribbon windows; 

cantilevered projections, such as overhangs or balconies; smooth wall surfaces; and an asymmetrical 

façade (Pennsylvania Historical & Museum Commission 2015). The building at 19 West Birch Avenue 

possesses some of these features, though it does not strictly adhere to them. International Style 

architecture was quite common between the 1920s and 1970s, both nationally and (to an extent) locally, 

and while the studied building was designed using the standard stylistic design language at the time, it 

displays a more organic, Flagstaff vernacular form thanks to the Malpais façade, sloping prow-gabled 

roof, and other flourishes. 

More standardized examples of International Style architecture in downtown Flagstaff include the Post 

Office building at 104 North W.C. Riles Street (which also displays Malpais construction) and the 

building at 220 North Leroux Street that currently houses the Coconino County Public Fiduciary. Other 

examples of Malpais construction—including structural use, rather than just a façade—are still present in 

Flagstaff and are listed on either the City, State, or National Registers. These include the South Beaver 

School at 506 South Beaver Street, Our Lady of Guadalupe Church at 302 South Kendrick Street, the 

icehouse building at 201 East Birch Avenue, and the house at 310 South Beaver Street. The current 

Flagstaff City Hall also displays Malpais.  

Whether the building represents the work of a master rests on the stature of its architect, Robert Blakey. 

Research for this study has shown that Blakey was a known civil and commercial architect and was cited 

in Arizona trade journals at the time (Arizona Builder and Contractor 1955; 1956) but has not revealed 

any particular significance to his legacy or works. Rather than being “a figure of generally recognized 

greatness” in his field (NPS 2002:20), Blakey appears to have been somewhat of a journeyman architect 

of his time and place. Some of his other works are discussed above in 6.0 Architecture. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
57 

Original design plans for the building could not be obtained for this report, so it is unclear exactly how 

much deviation the building underwent in its construction from the original vision of the architect, 

although based off published renderings it appears any changes were minimal. The building was further 

modified both during and after the period of significance, including notably the removal of the fire horn 

tower or cupula. Regardless, the building still retains and conveys its fundamental utilitarian International 

Style design language expressed in a more organic, vernacular form befitting a public-facing civic 

building of its time. While other buildings in Flagstaff display similar architectural elements, few others 

display them in this combination and at the scale and stature of the former City Hall building. Because of 

these factors, the building is recommended locally significant under the area of Architecture (City of 

Flagstaff Criterion D). The specificity of these factors along with changes to the interior (see below) make 

it likely not significant under NRHP Criterion C. 

8.4 INTEGRITY 

Integrity is defined as the ability of a property to convey its significance. Cornerstone recommends the 

subject property locally significant under City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP Criterion A for the 

involvement of the Flagstaff Police Department, Municipal Court, and city jail in the social and political 

movements related to Native American treatment within the City of Flagstaff; and under City of Flagstaff 

Criterion D for architecture. Integrity is discussed here to support our conclusions and recommendations. 

For City of Flagstaff eligibility evaluation, only exterior integrity is considered. For NRHP evaluation, 

greater emphasis is typically given to exterior integrity, but interior integrity is still assessed. Both are 

discussed and differentiated here. The seven aspects of integrity are location, design, setting, materials, 

workmanship, feeling, and association and are evaluated below.  

Location. This is the place where a property was constructed. To retain this aspect, a historic property 

must be in the same place in which it was built; the relationship between a property and its historic 

associations is typically destroyed if a property is moved (NPS 2002). The City Hall building is in its 

original location of construction. As the relationship between the property and its historic location is 

maintained, the property has a strong level of integrity of location. 

Design. Design refers to the physical elements of a historic property “that create its form, plan, space, 

structure, and style” (NPS 2002:44). While it is likely that the architect Blakey’s original vision of the 

building is still present and remains partially, it is currently not possible to evaluate how accurate the 

construction was to his vision. Changes to the exterior include filling in the Fire Department bays, the 

enthusiastic removal of the fire horn tower, and the replacement and addition of Malpais façade in the 

1980s (Blakey 1963; Arizona Daily Sun 1977). The interior was extensively remodeled after the period of 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
58 

significance, though some original elements and basic volumes likely remain. Due to these changes, the 

building’s exterior integrity of design is present but diminished, and its interior integrity of design (only 

relevant for NRHP evaluation) is weak but not lost. 

Setting. The location of a property is complemented by its setting, which is the surrounding physical 

environment of a historic property. Setting refers to the character of a property within its natural and built 

environment. The setting surrounding the building has changed over the decades (for at least some of the 

period of significance there were residential homes across the street to the west) but it retains similar 

elements to those that were present during the building’s period of significance, namely an active 

downtown neighborhood. Therefore, the aspect of integrity of setting is diminished but not lost.  

Materials and Workmanship. Materials is an aspect of integrity that addresses the physical elements 

that were used during a particular period of time and in a particular way to create a historic property. The 

materials used to construct a property reveal availability, style preferences, technologies, and traditions. A 

property must retain the key exterior materials dating from the period of significance for that property in 

order to have integrity of this aspect (NPS 2002). Closely related to materials is workmanship, which may 

be applied to a property as a whole or its individual components. Workmanship is the “physical evidence 

of the crafts of a particular culture or people during any given period in history or prehistory” (NPS 

2002:45). The additions and remodels outside of the period of significance have negatively affected the 

aspects of workmanship and materials, however, many original elements likely remain such as the 

basement concrete, the vault, and the Malpais basalt facades. The building’s exterior integrity of 

workmanship and materials is present but diminished, and its interior integrity of workmanship and 

materials (only relevant for NRHP evaluation) is weak but not lost. 

Feeling. Integrity of feeling is a property’s ability through its physical features to convey its historic 

character (NPS 2002). Often, feeling is the result of several aspects of integrity that, when taken together, 

relate a property’s place within a historical framework and period of significance. One measure of feeling 

is if someone who frequented the property during its period of significance would recognize the property 

if they were there today. Due to remodeling, city workers or incarcerated individuals would likely no 

longer recognize most of the interior of the building, and thus integrity of feeling is lost on the interior 

(only relevant for NRHP evaluation). On the exterior, however, despite some changes over time (such as 

the filling in of the Fire Department garage bays), the building still has the feeling of a public civic 

structure such as a city hall and thus retains a strong aspect of feeling on the exterior. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
59 

Association. Association is the direct connection between a historic property and an important historic 

event or person. A property retains integrity of association if it is in the place where the event occurred 

and is “sufficiently intact to convey that relationship to an observer” (NPS 2002:45). This aspect is often 

evaluated by the summed ability of the other aspects of integrity to convey the property’s association. 

Considering only exterior integrity for purposes of City of Flagstaff evaluation, the building has a present 

but diminished association with the themes of Social History and Government. Considering exterior and 

(to a lesser extent) interior integrity for purposes of NRHP evaluation, the building has a slightly more 

diminished but still present association with the themes of Social History and Government. 

9.0 SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS   

The subject building was utilized as City Hall, the Fire Department, the Police Department, and 

Municipal Court for the City of Flagstaff between 1951 and 1980, after which various civic operations 

began to move to other properties around the city. Some offices such as the housing authority were 

already in different buildings. To determine whether the subject building meets City of Flagstaff or 

NRHP Criterion of significance, Cornerstone examined archival records discussing the actions of the 

Flagstaff City Council and the Fire Department and Police Department employees during the building’s 

period of significance.  

Cornerstone evaluated the building’s significance using the various criteria established above. 

Cornerstone recommends that the building is significant under City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP 

Criterion A for its associations with the areas of Social History and Government, with sufficient integrity 

to qualify for eligibility. Cornerstone also recommends the building significant under City of Flagstaff 

Criterion D for its architectural qualities, with sufficient integrity to qualify for eligibility, although this 

likely does not extend to NRHP Criterion C eligibility. 

Given the building’s recommended eligibility under City of Flagstaff Criterion B and NRHP Criterion A, 

Cornerstone recommends that mitigation include the incorporation of the building’s history, the history of 

Native Americans in Flagstaff, and a discussion of the struggle for equality into the new construction in 

the form of a plaque, historic photographs placed in the lobby, and incorporation of some of the Malpais 

stone from the original building in a cornerstone as a remembrance of the historic building and of these 

significant events. Given the building’s recommended eligibility under City of Flagstaff Criterion D, 

further documentation such as architectural exterior elevation drawings may also be appropriate. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
60 

10.0 PREPARER’S QUALIFICATIONS 

Caitlin Stewart, M.A., RPA (Principal Investigator) 

Ms. Stewart is an archaeologist and historian who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional 

Qualifications Standards in the disciplines of Prehistoric and Historic Archaeology as well as 

Architectural History. She has over 19 years of experience in the profession with experience in the U.S. 

Southwest and U.S. Southeast regions in the context of survey, excavation, historic preservation, data 

recovery, and project management. Ms. Stewart has assisted in NRHP nomination forms for historic 

homesites and prehistoric districts. She has compiled and written a comprehensive manuscript on the 

Civilian Conservation Corps of Mississippi and recently published an article on an early ranching cabin 

and later ranger station on the Arizona Strip. In addition to her published works, Ms. Stewart has also 

instructed students on completing the Arizona SHPO Historic In-use structure forms and HABS/HAER 

reports. Her areas of interest include the Civilian Conservation Corps, early ranching, and early mining in 

Arizona. Ms. Stewart received her M.A. in Anthropology from the University of Mississippi, where she 

created a geospatial approach to determining the number of individuals present in prehistoric cemetery 

contexts. During her time in Mississippi, she worked on dozens of projects including architectural 

histories for historic homesteads, plantations, tenant housing, and public architecture. She received her 

B.A. from Western Kentucky University where she completed her undergraduate thesis on the 

documentation of Mt. Moriah Cemetery, which was established in 1862 and is the oldest African-

American cemetery in Warren County, Kentucky. Her field school was the documentation of an 

Antebellum home in Kentucky, with one of the state’s first on property kilns. 

Jack W. Treichler, M.A., RPA (Project Manager) 

Mr. Treichler is an archaeologist and historian who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional 

Qualifications Standards in the disciplines of Prehistoric and Historic Archaeology. He has over ten years 

of experience in the U.S. Southwest and Great Basin regions in the context of survey, excavation, and 

historic preservation, with specific focus on archaeological survey and project management in northern 

and central Arizona. He has worked with numerous historical properties related to aviation, 

homesteading, mining, timber extraction, ranching, the Civilian Conservation Corps, railroad 

construction, and other infrastructure development. This has involved field documentation of historical 

properties, archival research into these properties and the themes surrounding them, and analysis of their 

significance and integrity for purposes of inclusion in the NRHP. He has authored numerous Cultural 

Resource Management reports and has presented and published articles on historic archaeology. Mr. 



19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
61 

Treichler received an M.A. in Anthropology from Northern Arizona University, where his research 

examined prehistoric landscape relationships in northern Arizona using geographic information systems 

boundary effects analysis. He received a B.A. in Archaeology from Dickinson College where he focused 

on classical archaeology and languages—specifically ancient Greek and its written precursor Linear B. 

His training included excavation and ground-penetrating radar at the citadel and lower town of Bronze 

Age Mycenae. 

Samuel C. Hemsley, M.A., RPA (Preparer) 

Mr. Hemsley is an archaeologist who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications 

Standards in the disciplines of Prehistoric and Historic Archaeology. He has over six years of experience 

in the U.S. Southwest regions in the context of survey, excavation, and historic preservation with a 

specific focus on archaeological survey in northern Arizona. He has worked with historical properties 

involving ranching, timber extraction, and mining. This has involved field documentation of historical 

properties, archival research into these properties and the themes surrounding them, and analysis of their 

significance and integrity for purposes of inclusion in the NRHP. He has authored several Cultural 

Resource Management reports. Mr. Hemsley received an M.A. in Anthropology from Northern Arizona 

University, where his research examined the use of LiDAR technology in survey in the jungles of Belize. 

He received a B.A. in Anthropology from the University of California, Berkeley and has participated in 

archaeological field schools in southern California and Belize.



 

19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
62 

REFERENCES 

Arizona Advisory Committee 
1977  Justice In Flagstaff: Are These Rights Inalienable?. A report prepared by the Arizona 

Advisory committee to the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights. Accessed June 14, 2025. 
https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/Digitization/42455NCJRS.pdf  

 
Alexander, Tom 

2017  Historic Photograph of a Flagstaff Fire Truck. Available at: 
https://tomalexanderphotography.com/historics/#album-22. Accessed March 3, 2025. 

Arizona Historical Society 
2020 Flagstaff’s Fourth of July Celebrations. Available at 

https://arizonahistoricalsociety.org/2020/07/02/flagstaffs-fourth-of-july-celebrations/ 

Arizona Builder and Contractor 
1955 “Planning Stage.” Arizona Builder and Contractor 1 (11). 

1956 “Planning Stage.” Arizona Builder and Contractor 18 (11). 

Arizona Daily Sun [Flagstaff, Arizona] 
1949 Mayor Urges… Mar 16: 6.  https://www.newspapers.com/article/arizona-daily-sun-

mayorurges2/57897294/ Accessed June 14, 2025. 
 
1950 Work to Start Monday on New Flagstaff City Hall. July 11:1, 5. 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/516705756. Accessed February 19, 2025. 

1951 Proclamation on National Employ the Physically Handicapped Week. October 11:5 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516743625/. Accessed April 15, 2025. 

1951a First Council Meeting In New Hall Slated Monday. December 5:1. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516617133. Accessed February 19, 2025. 

1951b Work Started On City Jail. Feb 8, 1951: 1. Flagstaff Building Timeline Collection, 
NAU.MS.329, Cline Library. Special Collection and Archives Department. Accessed June 
16, 2025. 

 
1952 Municipal Polls At New City Hall. May 20: 1. 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/516622196. Accessed June 14, 2025. 
 
1954 City Election Coming Monday May 21:5 https://www.newspapers.com/image/516672694/. 

Accessed February 25, 2025. 

1958 Annexation. April 15:2 https://www.newspapers.com/image/516661133/. Accessed March 
13, 2025. 

1958a Research for Charter Grows. May 23; 6. https://www.newspapers.com/image/516664539/. 
Accessed April 21, 2025. 

1958b Charter Copies Still Available. September 10:1 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516594434/. Accessed April 15, 2025 



 

19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
63 

1960 City Police Chief Presents…. December 27: 3. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516668631/. Accessed April 15, 2025. 

1963 Flagstaff to Seek Federal Aid in City Hall Expansion. February 26:1. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516710127. Accessed February 19, 2025. 

1971 ‘Silence is Golden’, But Not in Council. August 27, 1971. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516724676. Accessed June 20, 2025. 

1971a Flow of Protests Fails to Ruffle P&Z Chief. Jan 27: 1. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516580277. Accessed June 14, 2025. 

1972 Protest: AIM Leaders Threaten More Protests. July 3, 1972. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516593883. Accessed June 24, 2025. 

1973 Light Pollution Code Would “Hold” Problem. February 20:1 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516600468/. Accessed April 15, 2025. 

1977 ‘Pat’ Hogan Had long Association With City. July 27, 1977. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/66541622 Accessed June 15, 2025. 

1977a  Public Notice. April 18, 1977. https://www.newspapers.com/image/516701595. Accessed 
June 20, 2025. 

1981 City Hall Renovation. January 29, 1981. Flagstaff Building Timeline Collection, 
NAU.MS.329, Cline Library. Special Collection and Archives Department. Accessed June 
16, 2025. 

1982 Corporation Set to Build New City Hall. Mar 23, 1982: 2. Flagstaff Building Timeline 
Collection, NAU.MS.329, Cline Library. Special Collection and Archives Department. 
Accessed June 16, 2025. 

1982a Police Department Moves Into New Station Quarters. December 8, 1982. Flagstaff Building 
Timeline Collection, NAU.MS.329, Cline Library. Special Collection and Archives 
Department. Accessed June 16, 2025. 

1984 Plaza Park to Be Named to Honor Wheeler. October 2:1 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/516113627/. Accessed April 15, 2025. 

1985 Municipal Courts Make a Move. August 4: 26. 
https://www.newspapers.com/image/174574789. Accessed June 14, 2025.  

1985a Around the Corner Move. Dec 8, 1985. Flagstaff Building Timeline Collection, 
NAU.MS.329, Cline Library. Special Collection and Archives Department. Accessed June 
16, 2025. 

2010 Brief History of the Flagstaff Fire Department. April 4. https://azdailysun.com/brief-history-
of-the-flagstaff-fire-department/article_2a9d13c7-a2ec-5a8b-a35c-e07191b5e288.html/. 
Accessed April 15, 2025. 



 

19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
64 

Arizona Daily Star  
1953 Effectiveness of Holsclaw’s Bill in Doubt. July 28:9 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/162942661. Accessed June 4, 2025. 

Babbit, George Collection 
1950 Construction of City Hall in Flagstaff, 120 N. Beaver, 1950-1951; Orpheum Theater in 

background. NAU.PH.92.8.157. Accessed on NAU Special Collections Colorado Digital 
Collection.  

Blakey, Robert A.I.A. (Firm) 
1963  Alterations and additions to City Hall, Flagstaff, Arizona. The Firm. On shelf at Flagstaff 

Public Library. 

City of Flagstaff  
2011  City of Flagstaff Zoning Code, Chapter 10-30: General to All. Available at: 

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=1416. Accessed March 3, 2025. 

2025  Council Manager Form of Government. Available at: 
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4979/Council-Manager-Form-of-Government. Accessed April 
15, 2025. 

Cline Special Collections 
n.d. The Flagstaff All-Indian Pow Wow. Available at 

https://library.nau.edu/speccoll/exhibits/powwow/credits/index.html 

Cline, Platt 
1976 They Came to the Mountain: The Story of Flagstaff’s Beginnings. Northern Arizona 

University, Old Press, Flagstaff. 

Coconino County Assessor 
n.d. Commercial Property Record Card for 100-19-004-A. Available at: 

https://eagleassessor.coconino.az.gov:444/assessor/taxweb/account.jsp?accountNum=R00567
32. Accessed February 18, 2025 

n.d. Property Sketch Map of 100-19-004-A. Available at: 
https://eagleassessor.coconino.az.gov:444/assessor/taxweb/account.jsp?accountNum=R00567
32&doc=SKETCH&sketchNum=1&page=1. Accessed February 18, 2025. 

n.d. Index to deeds and tract book. Located at Coconino County Assessor’s Office Vault, 
Flagstaff, Arizona. 

Faure, Andre 
1959     Aerial Photographs of northern Flagstaff, Arizona, Photo 44209. Northern Arizona University, 

Cline Library. Flagstaff Arizona. 
 
Janus Design 

1979 Railroad Addition Historic District: Nomination to the National Register of Historic 
Places. Janus Design, Tempe Arizona. 



 

19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
65 

Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co. 
1956  Arizona Telephone Directories, Yellow Pages. Flagstaff, Arizona. Arizona Memory Project. 

Accessed June 14, 2025. 
 

National Park Service (NPS) 
2002 National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the National Register Criteria for 

Evaluation. Originally published 1990, History and Education, National Register of Historic 
Places, Cultural Resources, National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, 
Washington, D.C. 

National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) 
2025     National Agriculture Imagery Program Base Layer, USDA Farm Services Agency. Accessed 

March 6, 2025 
 

Paradis, Thomas Wayne 
1979 Theme Town: A Geography of Landscape and Community in Flagstaff, Arizona. iUniverse 

Inc., Lincoln, Nebraska 

Pennsylvania Historical & Museum Commission 
2015 International Style 1930 – 1950. Available at 

https://www.phmc.state.pa.us/portal/communities/architecture/styles/international.html. 

Power, W.H. 
1925     Plat Map of Flagstaff. Scale 1:200. Flagstaff, Arizona 
 

Sanborn Map Company 
1890  Flagstaff, Yavapai County, Arizona Territory. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. 

October 1890, Sheet 1. 
 
1892  Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona Territory. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, 

NY. December 1892, Sheet 3. 
 
1895  Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. July 

1895. Sheet 3. 

1901 Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. October 
1901, Sheet 8. 

 
1910 Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. October 

1910, Sheet 8. 

1916 Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. January 
1916, Sheet 8. 

 
1948  Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona. Map. Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. January 

1916, revised September 1943 and September 1948, Sheet 8. 

Shock, Donald Paul 
1952 The History of Flagstaff. Master’s thesis, Department of History, University of Arizona, 

Tucson. 



 

19 W. Birch Ave Phase 1 HRS  Cornerstone Environmental Consulting 
66 

Talakte, Catherine 
2012 Oral history interview with Catherine Talakte [with transcript], July 5, 2012. Flagstaff All-

Indian Powwow oral history collection. Northern Arizona University. Cline Library. 
https://archive.library.nau.edu/digital/collection/cpa/id/104482/rec/1 

Tucson Citizen 
1972 Bail Won’t be cut for 7 who disturbed pow wow. July 11:22. Accessed May 19, 2025. 

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights 
1973 The Southwest Indian Report: A Report of the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights. Available at 

www.usccr.gov/files/historical/1973/73-005.pdf. Accessed June 16, 2025. 

U.S Geological Survey (USGS) 
1962      Flagstaff West Quadrangle, Arizona – Coconino Co. Scale 1: 24,000.  7.5 Minute Series 

(Topographic), Reston, Virginia: U.S Geological Survey and U.S Forest service. 
 

Velotta, Rick 
1980 Downtown Fire Station to Close. Arizona Daily Sun (ADS) [Flagstaff, Arizona], February 

7:1. https://www.newspapers.com/image/516508127, accessed February 18, 2025. 

White, Wendy 
2023      The Insular History of the Flagstaff Police Department and its Impact on Racial Disparities 

in Arrests. Southwest Center for Equal Justice. Available at: https://swcej.org/mt-
content/uploads/2023/07/the-insular-history-of-the-flagstaff-police-department.pdf. Accessed 
April 24, 2025. 

 



    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 7.  A.  7.  A.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: Potential Collaboration with NAU Students on Public Humanities Project

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Discussion only. 

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Taylor Thompson, Dept. of English Lecturer at Northern Arizona University, requests to discuss a potential
partnership with the Heritage Preservation Commission on a Public Humanities Project: The Rhetoric of
Space -- Gender, Disability, and Body Inclusivity in Flagstaff.  Presentation/Project Description from Taylor
Thompson: In Spring 2026, my ENG 105 students at NAU will be conducting community-based research on
how public spaces in Flagstaff include or exclude and represent marginalized bodies--particularly through the
lenses of gender, disability, ethnicity, and other embodied identities--culminating in public-facing deliverables
like an interactive accessibility map, a digital archive of narratives, and a local exhibit. I'm hoping the Heritage
Preservation Commission might be open to supporting students whose projects align with your values by
providing guidance, city context, or connections to relevant spaces and stories as needed, especially with
attention to creating inclusion and accessibility while maintaining historical sites and accuracy.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
 

AttachmentsAttachments
Presentation Slides



Public Humanities 
Project: The Rhetoric of 
Space – Gender, 
Disability, and Body 
Inclusivity in Flagstaff

Taylor Thompson July 16, 2025 
1



Page 2Commission Presentation Page #

Table of Contents

1. Intro to the Project
2. Involved Parties
3. The Curriculum & Timeline
4. Commission’s Role + Benefits
5. Goals for Students, NAU, and the Community
6. Lovett Grant Funding
7. Questions



Page 3

Introduction
Commission Presentation Page #

How it started: Fall 2025 NAU Version (CURE Grant)

Now preparing for Spring 2026 Community Version 
(Lovett Grant)

ENG 105
~60 students (mostly freshman)

3



Page 4Commission Presentation Page #

Involved Parties

Taylor Thompson (PI/Grant 
Recipient & ENG 105 Instructor)

Grant Assistant 
(English GTA, July 

2025)

City Partners

4



Page 5Commission Presentation Page #

City Partners

Confirmed Partners
❖ Beautification, Arts & Sciences Program
❖ Indigenous Commission
In Discussion (this summer and fall)
❖ Heritage Preservation Commission
❖ Open Spaces Commission
❖ Sustainability Commission
❖ Commission on Inclusion and Adaptive Living
❖ Commission on Diversity Awareness

5



Page 6

Curriculum & 
Timeline
Spring 2026

Commission Presentation Page # 6



Page 7

Curriculum
Commission Presentation Page #

1 Students first 
complete a 
Self-Reflection on 
their experiences 
with body rhetoric 
(accessibility, 
presentation, 
representation, etc.)

2

3 4

7

Students then 
complete an 
observation of a 
community issue for 
a Rhetorical 
Analysis paper 
(small-scale)

Students form 
groups of 3-5 and 
decide on one issue 
to move forward 
with and complete 
various Foundation 
Documents as part 
of research 

Students complete a 
group Proposal for 
solving the issue, as 
well as an affiliated 
Project; they 
prepare a 
public-facing 
presentation



Page 8

Self-Reflection

Commission Presentation Page #

January

Class Timeline

February
Rhetorical Analysis

March
Foundation Documents

April & May
Proposal, Project, & Presentation

City Partners
8

March through May
City Partners provide support to various 
student teams whose proposals require 
information about the specific City 
Partner’s processes



Page 9

Commission’s Role
Students choose an issue related to historical or 
cultural conservation (or that needs to be informed 
as to the importance of/involvement with heritage 
preservation) in the Flagstaff Community
 
➔ Students reach out directly to the Commission 

with questions about processes and constraints 
(possibly attend a meeting or present)

➔ There will be ~15 groups, and it is predicted 
that 25-50% may choose a project that would 
suggest collaboration with the Commission

Benefits
★ Student’s and NAU 

more involved and 
aware of 
community issues

★ Possibly future 
Commission 
members!

Commission Presentation 9



Page 10

Goals
Commission Presentation Page #

Students, NAU, Community

10



☝ 
Page 11Commission Presentation Page #

Goals

Student Goals (Individual)
● More aware of community 

needs, ways of 
change/processes

● Emboldened view of 
contributions to the world 
around them

● Students learn about 
professional documents

NAU Goals (Institution)
● More connected to the 

community
● Partnerships established for 

future collaboration

11

Community Goals
● Amplified community voices
● Better representation and 

acknowledgement of 
community issues

● More digital tools available



Page 12

Grant Funding

The Clara M. Lovett Humanities in Action grant is meant to help fund costs 
associated with a community partnered project.

Commission Presentation Page #

Potential uses:
❖ Community event in May

❖ Funding for small project implementation 
(like murals, signage, website domains, etc.)

❖ Funding for visiting speakers



Thank you!

Questions?
13



    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 7.  B.  7.  B.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: Historic Signs and Facades Grant Tracking - July 2025 Update

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Discussion only.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The FY2025 tracking spreadsheet was updated for June 2025 to reflect recent inspections and payments. A
new FY2026 tracking spreadsheet was created for July 2025 to show the projects being carried forward to the
next fiscal year. Heritage Preservation Officer inspections are complete for the 614 W. Santa Fe Ave., 803
1/2 W. Aspen Ave., 104 E. Route 66, and 615 W. Cherry Ave. projects and inspection photos are included in
the attachments. Reimbursement payments are complete for the 803 1/2 W. Aspen Ave. and 615 W. Cherry
Ave. projects and pending for the 614 W. Santa Fe Ave. project. Receipts and vendor paperwork have not yet
been submitted for the 104 E. Route 66 project to process for payment.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
 

AttachmentsAttachments
HSFG Tracking June 2025
HSFG Tracking July 2025
803 1/2 W. Aspen Ave. Grant Inspection Photos
104 E. Route 66 Grant Inspection Photos
615 W. Cherry Ave. Grant Inspection Photos
614 W. Santa Fe Ave. Grant Inspection Photos



Address Property Owner(s)/Applicant Grant Amount ($) Grant Level Meeting Date Status
314 W Birch Avenue Robert and Dorothy Best $20,000 November-23 Paid

Yogaert / 3 E Aspen Samantha Mar-24 Forfeited

601 W Cherry Avenue
Erik Schiefer-Stan & Amanda 
Schiefer-Stan  

Level 1 Apr-24 $10,000 award - extended to FY26

Sego Lily House Townsite CLT $20,000 Level 2 Jul-24 Paid

1625 N Sunset Drive
Claire DeChambre and Nicholas 
Geib

$10,000 Level 1 Aug-24 Paid

416 S San Francisco Street Enrique Valdivia $5,000 Level 1 Aug-24 Paid

823 W Aspen Ave Caitlin Kelly $20,000 Level 2 Aug-24 Paid

314 N Mogollon Jeff and Karen Kramarcyk $10,000 Level 1 Sep-24 Paid
302 E Route 66 Harry Curtin $10,000 Level 1 Sep-24 Paid

803 1/2 W Aspen Ave Greg Hadden $20,000 Level 2 Sep-24 Paid

615 W Cherry Cheryl Wahlgren $10,000 Level 1 Apr-25 Paid

614 W Santa Fe Avenue
Mac Axelrod, Trustee (Tesano 
representative)

$20,000 Level 2 Apr-24 Payment pending

104 E Route 66 Jonathan Warshaw/Bob Harris $10,000 Level 1 Nov-24 Inspection complete

FY25 Funding $160,000
Available funds $5,000

HSFG Grants July 2024 - June 2025



Address Property Owner(s)/Applicant Grant Amount ($) Grant Level
HPC Meeting 
Award Date

Grant Expiration 
Date

Status

601 W Cherry Avenue
Erik Schiefer-Stan & Amanda 
Schiefer-Stan  

$10,000 Level 1 Apr-24 Apr-26 Permits issued

104 E Route 66 Jonathan Warshaw/Bob Harris $10,000 Level 1 Nov-24 Nov-25 Inspection complete

FY26 Funding $160,000
Available funds $140,000

HSFG Grants July 2025 - June 2026





















































    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 8.  A.  1.  8.  A.  1.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: 3300 E. Route 66 (Los Tapatios) Mitigation

PROPERTY INFO:PROPERTY INFO:
Permit Number(s):Permit Number(s):   PZ-25-00071, CC-25-01329 
Address:Address:  3300 E. Route 66 

FINDINGS:FINDINGS:
The permit application for the replacement signage and interpretive plaque text and design were reviewed
and approved by the Heritage Preservation Officer.

INFORMATION:INFORMATION:
At the April 16, 2025 meeting, the Heritage Preservation Commission approved the Phase 1 Cultural
Resource Study for the 3300 E. Route 66 property with the following conditions:

1. Installation of the proposed replacement signs as presented, with the condition that the West façade is
allowed to say "Los Tapatios" but must be separable and removable from the façade while leaving the
"Restaurant" sign and the East façade only include the "Restaurant" sign

2. A mural of the 1967 postcard of the Crown Motel be placed on the inside of the restaurant alongside a
plaque detailing the history, subject to Heritage Preservation Officer approval

The permit application for the replacement signage and interpretive plaque text and design were reviewed
and approved by the Heritage Preservation Officer and are included in the attachments. The mural of the
1967 Crown Motel postcard has been installed on the interior of the Los Tapatios restaurant and a photo is
included in the attachments.
 

AttachmentsAttachments
Los Tapatios Signage Design
Interpretive Plaque Design
1967 Crown Motel Postcard Mural







Kerned text to allow for production method
Manipulated Art to allow for production method

PLEASE NOTE THE FOLLOWING:

7219511 CROWN RESTAURANT George Rivello

3046137

 1/1

Bronze 
18"W X 12"H
1
1/4" Thick: Painted Edges
Rectangle(or Square)
Raised Copy-Horizontal Stroke
Sand Bckgrnd w/Brushed Surface
BEVEL-Wide,Single Line Border
2025 Black SEMI-GLOSS Painted
Per Art�le Supplied
Semi-Gloss
Blind:Standard Stud
No Rosettes Required
Yes

06/13/2025

RAISED RECESSED

DATE:SALESPERSON:ORDER #: CUSTOMER PO #: Page:

PRECISION TOOLED PLAQUE
MATERIAL
SIZE
QTY
DEPTH
SHAPE
COPY
FINISH
BORDER
COLOR
STYLE
CLEAR
MOUNT
ROSETTES
PATTERN

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

VERSION: 3
Updated new artwork. Fixed hyphens and kerning 

RTF: 

Bronze 2025 Black

.5”
.25”

Signature: Date: 6/13/2025





    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 8.  B.  1.  8.  B.  1.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: Killip School Regional Detention Basins Inlet Section 106 Consultation

PROPERTY INFO:PROPERTY INFO:
N/A

FINDINGS:FINDINGS:
The State Historic Preservation Office concurred with the delineation of the area of potential effects (APE),
the adequacy of historic property identification efforts, and the determination of "No Historic Properties
Affected." No additional cultural resources work is recommended.

INFORMATION:INFORMATION:
The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Los Angeles District initiated consultation under Section 106 of the
National Historic Preservation Act for the proposed Killip School Regional Detention Basins Inlet project
regarding delineation of the APE, adequacy of historic property identification efforts, and determination of
effects. The project aims to improve stormwater flows and prevent flooding along Spruce Wash. The
proposed work consists of construction of an inlet structure that will convey excess discharge from the Spruce
Wash stormwater channel to the Killip School Regional Detention Basins. Ground disturbing activities
would include demolition, grading and drainage, erosion control, deepening existing channels, trenching, and
culvert/inlet installation. The APE for the current undertaking encompasses approximately 13.6 acres and is
located generally between N. 1st St. and N. 3rd St., from E. 6th Ave. to Felice Ave.



    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 8.  B.  2.  8.  B.  2.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: Downtown Mile Section 106 Consultation

PROPERTY INFO:PROPERTY INFO:
N/A

FINDINGS:FINDINGS:
The Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) initiated consultation under Section 106 of the National Historic
Preservation Act with consulting parties on August 15, 2023. The State Historic Preservation Office and City
Heritage Preservation Officer have concurred on the delineation of the area of potential effects and finding of
No Adverse Effect. FRA sent out revised archaeological and built environment cultural resource reports for
review in May 2025. 

INFORMATION:INFORMATION:
FRA is the lead federal agency for the proposed Downtown Mile Safety and Connectivity Improvement
Project. The project includes track, fencing, switch, roadway, bridge, and platform improvements to a portion
of the Burlington Northern-Santa Fe (BNSF) Railway and nearby streets in Flagstaff approximately located
between West Clay Street on the west and extending to South San Francisco Street on the east.



    
Heritage Preservation CommissionHeritage Preservation Commission 8.  B.  3.  8.  B.  3.              
From:From: Lauren Clementino, Senior Planner/Heritage Preservation Officer
DATE:DATE: 07/16/2025
SUBJECT:SUBJECT: Puente De Hozho Elementary School Monopine Tower Section 106 Consultation

PROPERTY INFO:PROPERTY INFO:
N/A

FINDINGS:FINDINGS:
EBI Consulting, Inc. on behalf of SQF, LLC and the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) initiated
consultation under Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act on May 12, 2025 and invited the
Heritage Preservation Officer to comment on the proposed project. The HPO did not find concerns or
comments with the proposed plans. EBI Consulting, Inc. notified the HPO on June 30, 2025 that State
Historic Preservation Office concurrence for the project had been received.

INFORMATION:INFORMATION:
The project proposes construction of a new telecommunications monopine tower at 3401 N. 4th St. (Puente
De Hozho Elementary School).


	Agenda
	AI_9048_123 S. Beaver St. Grant Application
	       ATT_HPC-G Application
	       ATT_Pella Window Quote
	       ATT_Pella Lifestyle Series Casement Unit Sections
	       ATT_Floor Plan
	       ATT_Window Reference Photos
	AI_9134_19 W. Birch Ave. Phase I Cultural Resource Study
	       ATT_HPC-CRS Application
	       ATT_Phase I Cultural Resource Study
	Table of Contents
	Table of Photographs
	Table of Figures
	Summary of Findings
	1.0 Project Location and Description
	2.0 Regulatory Context
	3.0 Methodology
	4.0 Historical Background
	4.1 Flagstaff City Council
	4.2 Flagstaff Municipal Court
	4.3 Flagstaff Police Department
	4.4. Flagstaff Fire Department
	4.5 Other Facilities and City Offices
	4.6 Social History
	5.0 Site and Building History
	6.0 Architecture
	7.0 Architectural Description
	8.0 Evaluation of Significance and Integrity
	8.1 Social History and Government
	8.2 Significant Persons
	8.3 Architecture
	8.4 Integrity
	9.0 Summary and Recommendations
	10.0 Preparer’s Qualifications
	References


	AI_9112_Potential Collaboration with NAU Students on Public Humanities Project
	       ATT_Presentation Slides
	AI_9071_Historic Signs and Facades Grant Tracking - July 2025 Update
	       ATT_HSFG Tracking June 2025
	       ATT_HSFG Tracking July 2025
	       ATT_803 1_2 W. Aspen Ave. Grant Inspection Photos
	       ATT_104 E. Route 66 Grant Inspection Photos
	       ATT_615 W. Cherry Ave. Grant Inspection Photos
	       ATT_614 W. Santa Fe Ave. Grant Inspection Photos
	AI_9127_3300 E. Route 66 (Los Tapatios) Mitigation
	       ATT_Los Tapatios Signage Design
	Los Tapatios [PERMIT] 12 17 2024 A
	Los Tapatios [PERMIT] 12 17 2024 B

	       ATT_Interpretive Plaque Design
	       ATT_1967 Crown Motel Postcard Mural
	AI_9072_Killip School Regional Detention Basins Inlet Section 106 Consultation
	AI_9073_Downtown Mile Section 106 Consultation
	AI_9126_Puente De Hozho Elementary School Monopine Tower Section 106 Consultation

